

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

1-1-2021

Strategies to Implement Social Media Marketing in Small **Businesses**

Theodora Ijang Nyamboli Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Scandinavian Studies Commons, and the Technology and Innovation Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Theodora Ijang Nyamboli

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. John Bryan, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Douglas Gilbert, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Lionel De Souza, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

Abstract

Strategies to Implement Social Media Marketing in Small Businesses

by

Theodora Ijang Nyamboli

MSc., Harper Adams University, Newport, England, UK, 2000

BSc., Harper Adams University, Newport, England, UK, 2001

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2021

Abstract

The lack of consumer engagement can have adverse effects on business outcomes. Small business managers (SBMs) and owners who fail to engage consumers are at a higher risk of failure. Rooted in the theory of diffusion of innovation theory, the purpose of this qualitative exploratory multiple case study was to explore strategies SBMs use to develop and effectively implement marketing strategies to improve consumers' engagement. The participants comprised six business managers of six successful small businesses in Maryland who effectively used social media marketing strategies to engage consumers for at least 5 years. Data were collected via semi-structured interviews and a review of the companies' documents. Data were analyzed using thematic analysis, and three themes emerged: (a) content design and engineering, (b) platforms selection and implementation, and (c) leadership engagement and tools. A key recommendation is for SBMs to market content using social media platforms like Facebook, Twitter, and YouTube. The implications for positive social change include the potential for business leaders to promote business success and community growth, leading to better living standards by providing employment opportunities to people.

Strategies to Implement Social Media Marketing in Small Businesses

by

Theodora Ijang Nyamboli

MSc., Harper Adams University, Newport, England, UK, 2000 BSc., Harper Adams University, Newport, England, UK, 2001

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2021

Dedication

I am dedicating this doctoral study to my God, who has given me the grace to successfully go through the innumerous challenges I encountered throughout this study. To my siblings Caroline Nyamboli and Wilfred Nyamboli for their daily prayers, encouragement, and sacrifices made, I will forever be grateful. To my precious and smart children, nieces, and nephews, Evira-Percy, Blessing, Tikum, Ambe, Mfombe, Ikome, and Maureen, I pray that this demonstrates to you that grit and persistence designate success. To my late parents Mr. John and Elizabeth Nyamboli, I dedicate this in memory of your sacrifices, hard work, prayers, education, and the humble upbringing you gave me. This has gone a long way towards my today's accomplishment: I am forever thankful to you both.

Acknowledgments

I am sincerely thankful to everyone who has been an encouragement and support to me through this DBA journey. A special thanks to my committee Chair Dr. John Bryan for your patience, support, guidance, and motivation throughout this arduous process. I would also like to appreciate my committee members Dr. Douglas Gilbert, Dr. Lionel de Souza, and Dr. Al Endres, for their constructive feedback and direction, which improved the study's quality and content. A huge thanks go to my family and friends who have stood by me with words of encouragement, love, and all other support that has contributed towards this fruitful pursue of my desire for higher learning. Above all, I thank God for granting onto me wisdom, understanding, and strength.

Table of Contents

Li	st of Tables	iv
Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	2
	Problem Statement	3
	Purpose Statement	3
	Nature of the Study	4
	Research Question	5
	Interview Questions	5
	Conceptual Framework	6
	Operational Definitions	7
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	8
	Assumptions	8
	Limitations	9
	Delimitations	. 10
	Significance of the Study	10
	Contribution to Business Practice	. 11
	Implications for Social Change	. 11
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	12
	Diffusion of Innovations Theory	. 13
	Role of Innovation	. 17
	Social Media Marketing	. 19

Adoption of Marketing Innovations	21
Contribution of Small Businesses to the U.S. Economy	27
Advertising Attitude	28
Changing Landscape of Marketing Communication	30
Consumer Engagement Strategy	35
Transition	4
Section 2: The Project	46
Role of the Researcher	46
Participants	49
Research Method and Design	5
Research Method	51
Research Design	53
Population and Sampling	55
Ethical Research	5
Sources of Data	59
Data Collection Sources	6
Data Analysis	64
Reliability and Validity	69
Reliability	70
Validity	7 1
Transition and Summary	76
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	75

	Introduction	78
	Presentation of the Findings	78
	Theme 1: Content Design and Engineering	79
	Theme 2: Platforms Selection and Implementation	85
	Theme 3: Leadership Engagement and Tools	91
	Applications to Professional Practice	99
	Implications for Social Change	102
	Recommendations for Action	103
	Recommendations for Further Research	104
	Reflections	104
	Conclusion	105
Re	ferences	107
Αŗ	ppendix A: Interview Questions	151
Ar	opendix B: Interview Protocol	.152

List of Tables

Table 1	Content of References	13
Table 2	Frequency of Themes	78

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Small businesses play an essential role in the global economy by generating innovations, new jobs, and economic growth (Karadag, 2015). Despite the important role of small businesses in the economy, about half of them did not survive five years or longer between 2005 to 2017 (Small Business Administration [SBA], 2020). Social media marketing (SMM) strategies are effective means for a small business manager to improve consumers' engagement and convert consumers, grow profitability; therefore, it may lead to improved survival of small businesses (Nawafleh, 2015). Omoyza and Agwu (2016) stated that one of the significant challenges of many small business managers (SBMs) is the failure to adopt SMM strategies effectively. There remains a void in the literature on how to develop and implement effective SMM strategies to enhance small business performance (Cole et al., 2017; Hassan et al., 2015).

Future researchers could explore the effective SMM strategies that small business leaders employ to exploit possible benefits and assess the social media tools and strategies which are most beneficial to remain sustainable (Bouranta et al., 2019; Cole et al., 2017). Marketers employ social media podiums, such as Facebook and Twitter, to enhance consumer engagement by using online comments and posts to engage consumers (Galati et al., 2017). The effective development and implementation of SMM strategies to improve consumers' engagement, however, remains a problem for some SBMs due to lack of resources and expertise (Hassan et al., 2015).

Background of the Problem

Small businesses are of great importance to the United States (US) economy. From 2000 to 2017, small businesses accounted for about 66% of net new job creation in the US (SBA, 2020). Small business owners face marketing challenges to effectively communicate to attract and improve consumers' engagement, which may lead to an advantage in a competitive market position (Hutchinson et al., 2015). The adoption of effective SMM strategies to improve communication approaches is one of the most significant marketing challenges for small business leaders (Omoyza & Agwu, 2016). Perčić & Perić (2021) noted that the implementation of an effective marketing strategy is an invaluable asset to the success of a business.

The rapid diffusion of innovation into the global market has changed the communication approaches of business leaders with their customers (Clausen & Fichter, 2019; Kwon, 2021). Social networks offer an innovative and interactive platform for business managers to communicate with customers and triggers the interest of new products (Roberts & Piller, 2016). As consumer engagement remains a primary business success component, small businesses must employ SMM strategies effectively to customer engagement practices and remain sustainable (Herman, 2015; Hofacker & Belanche, 2016). However, Grewal et al., (2019) identified negative consumers' responses when posting on social media backfire due to a lack of effective strategies. I explored how small business leaders develop and implement SMM effectively to improve consumer engagement.

Problem Statement

The failure of organizations to effectively implement SMM may result in difficulties to relate with customers and remain sustainable (Valos, et al., 2017). In a 2017 survey of 300 small businesses that made \$100,000 or below across the United States, 75% of the managers indicated a significant challenge to adopting and implementing SMM strategy effectively (Cole et al., 2017). The general business problem is that SBMs lack effective approaches to social media strategies designed to improve customer engagement. The specific business problem is that some SBMs lack the strategies to develop and effectively implement SMM to improve consumers' engagement.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative exploratory multiple case study was to explore the strategies that SBMs use to develop and effectively implement SMM strategies to improve consumers' engagement. The specific study population consisted of six business managers of six successful small businesses in Maryland. The business impact to the organizations may include the potential for SBMs to have a better understanding of social media and be able to develop and implement SMM strategies to engage consumers effectively and bring about business growth. The implication of positive social change to the community is business growth, which could result in increased employment and tax revenues, leading to an improved living standard for the people in local communities.

Nature of the Study

The principal research methods are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (Saunders et al., 2018). The qualitative research is an inductive approach, suitable for exploratory research in which researchers use to understand the phenomenon via observations, open-ended interview questions, and documentation (Holloway & Galvin, 2016). Quantitative research is a deductive method which researchers use to collect numerical data and perform mathematical calculations and hypotheses testing involving variables' characteristics or relationships (Yin, 2018). A quantitative approach was not appropriate for this study because completing the proposed purpose does not require deductive reasoning about variable characteristics or relationships. Mixed-methods researchers combine both qualitative and quantitative methodologies (Kachouie & Sedighadeli, 2015). Although the mixed method may serve to address the qualitative issues of the proposed study, this method was rejected because there are no hypotheses to test and examine underlying characteristics or relationships. The qualitative method is appropriate because I explored strategies that SBMs use to effectively implement SMM to improve consumers' engagement through open-ended interview questions and via documentation provided by the participants.

A multiple case study design was employed to explore the strategies that SBMs use to develop and effectively implement SMM to improve consumers' engagement.

Multiple case study researchers depend on multiple distinct cases and data sources such as interviews, observation, documents, and artifacts to facilitate in-depth investigation within a real-world context over a fixed period (Hancock & Algozzine, 2016). Using the

case study enables developing a more intense and more vibrant picture of the research problem than other qualitative research designs (Lewis, & Molyneux, 2018). For example, the phenomenological design was rejected because it limits the exploration to only the meanings of participants' lived experiences (Sylvan, 2018). Researchers use an ethnographic design to study an entire culture (Eriksson & Kovalainen, 2016); I did not select an ethnographic design because exploring an entire culture of a group of SBMs or owners was not undertaken. A multiple case study design was chosen to produce detailed descriptions of the strategies that SBMs use to effectively implement SMM using concepts to order the data and relating to earlier literature. Yin (2018) emphasized that with multiple cases, researchers can conduct a broader exploration of research questions and concepts, thereby potentially increasing the robustness of the findings.

Research Question

The central research question for the study was:

RQ: What strategies do SBMs use to develop and effectively implement SMM to improve consumer engagement?

Interview Questions

- 1. How does your organization use social media as a communication channel to engage customers?
- 2. What effective SMM strategies have your organization developed and implemented to engage customers?
- 3. How does your organization develop its SMM strategies?
- 4. How did your organization implement SMM strategies to engage customers?

- 5. What, adjustments over time have your organization made to its SMM strategies that have improved consumers' engagement?
- 6. How, does the management of your organization determine benchmarks of the effectiveness of a specific SMM strategy after its development and implementation?
- 7. Based on your experiences, what positive effects have the implementation of SMM strategies had on your organization over time?
- 8. What else would you like to share regarding your experiences in developing and using SMM implementation strategy to engage consumers?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework that I used is the theory of diffusion of innovation (DOI), which underpinned and grounded the study, to explore the strategies SBMs use to develop and effectively implement SMM to improve consumers' engagement. In 1962, Rogers first developed the theory of DOI as a communication model and later the foundation of the adoption concept to elucidate how over time, new products or concepts can acquire momentum and diffusion (Rogers, 2015). The DOI theory can be used to explain how, why, and the degree to which technology and ideas spread via cultures to increase the engagement of customers and business growth. The key propositions underlying the DOI theory are innovation, communication channels, time, and social systems (Rogers & Kincaid, 1981). In 2003, Rogers described DOI as the process where innovation spreads across communication channels, and as time progresses, the innovation reaches the members of social systems. Muhammad and Chin-Hong (2017)

posited that researchers could use the DOI theory to evaluate individuals' reactions to the employment of innovation and the awaiting success of the implementation. Therefore, innovation and communication practices make the DOI theory an appropriate framework to address the effective development and implementation of SMM strategies by SBMs to improve consumers' engagement.

Operational Definitions

Connected social media (CSM): New social network strategies that attract, engage, and retain consumers by establishing brand trust among social media users via the use of multiple social media (Shrestha et al., 2019)

Customer engagement: A marketing communication strategy that business organizations use to encourage consumers to interact and share their experiences with a firm or brand by leveraging new technologies and tools (Mishra, 2019).

Small Business. The definition of U.S. small business according to the US SBA (2016) is a legal business of a maximum of 500 workers with independent ownership and operates a for-profit business in the USA.

Social commerce: The exchange-related activities that occur during a person's social network in the social media environment which links to the recognition of need, pre-purchase, purchase, and post-purchase phases of a focal exchange (Yadav et al., 2013).

Social media: A group of Internet-based platforms builds on Web 2.0 ideology and technology, and it allows users to create and exchange consumer-generated content (Stephen & Lamberton, 2016).

Social media marketing: A marketing strategy that includes the use of digital applications, media, and platforms that facilitate interaction, content sharing, and collaboration to promote goods, services, and information (Godey et al., 2016).

Social networking sites (SNS): An online platform such as Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn, Snapchat, WhatsApp, and Instagram that allow users to build a public profile, and use the website to interact with other users with whom they share a connection (Min-Sook et al., 2019).

Traditional marketing: A marketing strategy that uses marketing tools such as radio, television, and print to advertise and promote the products and services (Hassan et al., 2015).

Word-of-mouth (WoM): An unpaid form of promotion in which satisfied customers tell other people how much they like a business, product, or service. WoM is an unpaid form of promotion where customers share information or rumor about a business, product, or service. (Haikel-Elsabeh et al., 2019).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are unverifiable, presumed truths that carry risks and may mislead the results of the findings (Yin, 2018). The disclosure of assumptions in qualitative research is indispensable to the reliability of a research study (Lewis & Molyneux, 2018). Therefore, researchers need to unveil all assumptions used or risk invalidated findings (Leedy & Ormrod, 2016). I hold three assumptions for this qualitative multiple case study.

- (a) SBMs desired to grow business by successfully engaging consumers.
- (b) Small businesses use SMM strategies to improve consumers' engagement at fairly low costs and high efficiency as compared to traditional marketing strategies.
- (c) I also assumed that during the face-to-face interview, all six participants of the study who voluntarily participated precisely recollected past events, and truthfully disclosed personal experiences of using SMM strategies.

Limitations

Limitations are the study's impediments or shortcomings that the researcher has no control of but can affect the transferability of the research findings (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). There were several limitations in this study specific to the data collection process and the research result. One of the anticipated limitations was that some of the responses to the open-ended questions may have created a threat towards an accurate review of experiences in cases where participants found it challenging to recall precise accounts of their experiences. The second limitation was the lack of options to further probe respondents depending on the study's outcome, which may reduce the credibility of the findings. The precision of the data collected from the interview, depending on the experience and judgment of each of the six SBMs, may have limited the use of SMM strategies to a specific industry. Therefore, the results of this study might not be transferable to small businesses in other industries.

Delimitations

Delimitations are boundaries set by the researcher to narrow the scope of the study (Saunders et al., 2018). These set boundaries help the researcher focus on a specific area of the study, thereby overcoming limiting factors such as the geographic scope of the study and time constraints. One of the delimitations of this study was the geographic region of the state of Maryland. The second delimitation of the research was the small sample size of six SBMs within six small businesses. Another delimitation was the small population size of the specific qualification criteria for SBMs who have effectively implemented SMM strategies to engage consumers. Lastly, the exclusive focus on exploring SMM strategies used by SBMs to improve consumer engagement was the delimitation as I did not explore other factors encountered by SBMs when improving consumers' engagement.

Significance of the Study

The study's significance is the degree to which the study reflects the potential contribution to the business practice and the implications on social change, which improve SMM strategies' effectiveness for catalyzing business performance and enabling a business to benefit society. The proposed study findings were of significance to organizations. The key beneficiaries and stakeholders from this research's knowledge as the findings may enable SBMs and owners to acquire knowledge concerning business practices such as effective strategies for developing and implementing SMM strategies. Small businesses in the launching or diffusion stage of innovation may use this study's outcome to create and implement effective SMM strategies and practices. Also, the

development of effective SMM strategies may become a guide for new innovators in small businesses entering the market to enhance business sustainability. The survival of small businesses may lead to increased profits and create more employment opportunities, thus promoting positive social change for communities.

Contribution to Business Practice

This study's findings may add to the knowledge of the processes that small businesses can use for the effective development and implementation of SMM. The increased knowledge could also equip SBMs and owners with strategies for implementing SMM and maintaining an increasingly effective online presence. The online presence of small businesses could help in promoting and reaching a larger population size in many more geographical locations and reduce traditional marketing costs (Jiang et al., 2017). Researchers have concluded that information on effective SMM strategies can help the leaders of businesses to (a) increase brand recognition, (b) improve productivity and profitability, (c) improve customer retention, and (d) prevent business failure (Lamberton & Stephen, 2016). Therefore, the study's findings could help small business leaders develop and implement effective strategies for business growth and sustainability.

Implications for Social Change

The contributions of this study that might lead to positive social change include effective SMM strategies enabling small businesses to increase revenues for increasing employment rate and employee's earnings. Business success and increasing employment could also result in growing tax revenues, which local governments could use to invest in

improving the lifestyles of citizens. Small businesses consist of 99.7% of organizations with paid employees and 40.8% of private-sector payroll (SBA, 2018a). Shibia and Barako (2017) stated that community with increase small businesses, local communities enjoy new job creation, poverty alleviation, and improved living standard. When firms and individuals prosper, families and local communities become healthier because more individuals and families can afford health insurance, enjoy a fairer work atmosphere, local poverty reduction, and higher community standard of living.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

Some managers are not able to develop strategies for the effective implementation of SMM to engage and convert consumers. One of the significant problems in using social media is to develop and implement marketing strategies to leverage social media to get desired results by first targeting the appropriate consumers then engage and convert the consumers (Arora & Sanni, 2019). In this literature review section, the problem statement and research methodology align with the theoretical and academic literature to support the main research question: What strategies do SBMs use to develop and effectively implement SMM to improve consumer engagement? The responses to the research question and topics such as the diffusion of innovation theory synthesized the marketing innovation literature and provided valuable insight into SMM and customer engagement strategies. The following major components were included in this study: (a) the concept used to form the study, (b) the background of the conceptual framework and justification of choosing Rogers' DOI theory, (c) a review and the significance of the phenomena, (d) gaps and limitations discovered in the study.

The purpose of this review was to present and access the theoretical and academic literature related to the development and implementation of SMM strategies by SBMs to improve consumers' engagement. In the literature review, I used Walden University Library's databases to obtain information such as ProQuest, Business Source Complete EBSCOHost, ERIC, and Science Direct. The key search words and phrases to source quality literature that was used included the adoption of marketing innovation, consumers' engagement, Roger's DOI theory, innovations, SMM, small business, advertising attitude, marketing communication, and social media platform. In this literature review, I have reviewed 287 peer-reviewed, seminal, and governmental references. Table 1 shows the taxonomy of references that were used for this study. The total peer-reviewed or seminal publications were 259 references. These peer-reviewed or seminal publications represent 90% of the total references used.

Table 1Content of References

Reference type	<5 years	>5 years	Total
Peer-reviewed	203	56	259
Not peer-reviewed	21	7	28
Total	224	63	287

Diffusion of Innovations Theory

The diffusion of innovations theory is the postulation that the process of communication of innovation via specific channels occurs over time within members of a social system (Rogers, 2003). Researchers use DOI theory to address business managers' perceptions of SMM, which in return could lend themselves to develop and implement future SMM strategies to improve consumers' engagement if found appropriate. DOI

theory is well-known as a theory used to describe the processes suitable for adopters during the process of adoption of new ideas, innovations, or technologies (Shelomi, 2015). Some organizations seem to have used the elements of the DOI theory to understand the strategies that have influenced the adoption of innovation to achieve competitive advantage (Cirus, & Simonova, 2020). The use of Roger's DOI theory in this study could serve to increase the understanding of SBMs on why and how effective implementation of SMM strategy to improve consumers' engagement is vital for business sustainability.

Rogers founded the DOI theory from the disciplines of sociology, anthropology, and epidemiology, with the principle that new ideas and practices spread via interpersonal communication (Valente & Rogers, 1995). Many other disciplines have accepted this theory, such as in marketing, development studies, health promotion, and communications, have used the approach. Researchers can trace some of the theoretical foundations of the theory back to a study in 1890 of Gabriel Tarde (Kinnunen, 1996). Tarde was the first to relate an innovation's adoption rate with an S-shaped curve about the role of social influence on consumers in rejecting or continuing to use an idea.

In 2003, Rogers described that people accept and adopt innovation in different ways and rates, overtime innovation social system of communication spread by sharing innovation, and the level of understanding of potential adopters of innovations varies.

Innovations referred to new practices or ideas, social systems referred to interwoven units to accomplish a common goal, and communication relates to the sharing and receiving of ideas (Blank, 2020). The measurement of time in diffusion to Rogers involved the

innovation-decision process, individual's or unit's innovativeness, and the rate of adoption was a strength in the DOI theory. The understanding of Rogers's innovation adoption process is useful in fostering an innovative culture of innovation. Rogers's DOI theory originated from the study of sociology and agriculture in the 1920s and 1930s (Rogers, 2003). Ryan and Gross (1943) formed the foundation for Rogers's DOI theory by exploring the diffusion paradigm, which showed that interaction, social contacts, and interpersonal communication crucially influenced the adoption of new behavior. Ryan and Gross's concept attracted many more researchers in the 1950s and 1960s to studies the DOI theory in different disciplines applying the theory in different concepts and situations (Greenhalgh et al., 2004).

In 1966, Coleman, Katz, and Menzel used the DOI theory to study how doctors' prescriptions and acceptance of antibiotics helped to catalyze network analysis (Burt, 1973). Rogers and Kincaid in 1981 theorized, that communications studies as new ideas in the early 1980s conveyed by mass media or via interaction. Cirus and Simonova (2020) posited that diffusion is the process to penetrate new technology, products, and services via the market and broadcast by social influences. Lupo and Stroman (2020) associated SMM adoption with the characteristics of the DOI theory and found that social media usage is usually beneficial to marketers to foster customers' adoption of innovation. Researchers like Moore and Simon (1999) evaluated the diffusion of technologies using adopted patterns' S-curves over time and revealed the rapid adoption over the last half of the 20th century in different indicators of social conditions such as

environmental health, and social services. The rates of adoption of this data can serve as future innovations forecast, which posited a continuous increase in its diffusion.

I considered using the disruptive innovation theory as the conceptual framework. Disruptive innovation theory is one of the most researched theories in business and innovation strategy literature (Christensen et al., 2018). Clayton M. Christensen, in 1995, first defined the term and analyzed the phenomenon of disruptive innovation (Christensen, 2013). The major difference between the DOI and disruptive innovation theory is that the former elucidates the process of the spread of innovation for a population's adoption and social acceptance of new technology. While disruptive innovation implies that innovation is often based on new market development and value network, and eventually disrupts and displaces an existing market and value network. I could use the lens of the disruptive theory to explore innovation adoption strategies: The theory of disruptive innovation would not, however, help to appropriately explain the innovation adoption process.

The theory of DOI has the characteristics to foster social media adoption and have the information that could assist marketers in understanding strategies that motivate social media usage (Lupo & Stroman, 2020). Innovators use communication channels such as social media, websites, and internet applications for marketing (Andrews, et al., 2016). The use of technology innovation, such as social media for marketing, increased customer reach and adoption, and the competitive advantage of a firm (Nawafleh, 2015). The theory of DOI is vital in SMM strategies as it impacts user's adoption, resulting in businesses leveraging social systems with innovation to influence engagement rates.

Role of Innovation

The definition and the role of innovation have always been complicated, especially in the last decade, characterized by rapid social, political, and technological life changes. The increase of customers to accept new technologies has led to a constant change in the business models of firms (Moreno-Munoz et al., 2016). Cooper et al. (2016) referred to innovation as a change in different variations and an outcome. Innovation is the inspirational force behind creativity and new ideas, which may lead to new processes, products, services, or processes (Youngs, & Graf, 2017). Innovation differentiates entrepreneurs from basic small business owners (Cooper, et al., 2016). Small businesses usually have an advantage over large firms as these may often be more flexible to change, which may lead to a quicker generation of innovative products and services (Sahut & Peris-Ortiz, 2013). Effective implementation of innovation enables firms to directly address the needs of customers with greater efficiency.

Innovation is a vital tool for increasing performance (Semuel et al., 2017). Innovation stimulated business growth, sustains economic growth, and gives new potential, such as increased profits (Galindo-Martin & Méndez-Picazo, 2014). Innovation fosters the demand for products or services or inveigled the preconception for next-generation products (Taalbi, 2017). In 2015, Grundström and Uddenberg showed that there is enough evidence which confirms the relation between growth ambitions and the actual growth of a firm. A beneficial relationship prevails between innovation, cash flow, liquidity, and exportation of small and medium enterprises (SMEs) irrespective of the international location of the SME (Battaglia et al., 2018; Love & Roper, 2015).

Innovations like SMM might be the key for small businesses to grow and survive beyond their first five years.

Small businesses can promote consumer-brand engagement by using digital marketing and SMM effectively (Cole et al., 2017). Digital and SMM strategies can foster the visibility, viability, and sustainability of small businesses (Sriram, 2016). Businesses easily reach audiences internationally with less effort, time, and money by using social media platforms such as Facebook and Twitter (Basri, 2016). Moreno-Munoz et al. (2016) showed that people spend an average of 17% of their time on Facebook's mobile app. Small businesses can use social media to improve value, but the package of these benefits includes some challenges (Schaupp & Bélanger, 2014).

One of the most common challenges in the innovation literature of small businesses is resource scarcity. Woschke et al. (2017) noted that resources for SMEs are often limited, which can restrict their innovation abilities. The lack of ambitions, perspectives, and skills of small businesses may also limit the outcome of the organizations (Borch & Madsen, 2007; Singh et al., 2010). Recently, Collins and Reutzel (2017) and Expósito and Sanchis-Llopis (2018) included that the innovation strategies of managers can also affect the outcome of the business. There is still some fear in empirical research on how growth ambitions and management concepts of small business leaders on how market opportunities and threats might affect SMEs' innovation orientation (Colclough et al., 2019). The study's strategy and knowledge may be useful to SBMs in exploring growth ambitions as they use SMM strategies to overcome the threats that may affect innovation.

Social Media Marketing

The analysis of SMM and innovation in small businesses pinpoint innovation management, customer engagement, collaboration, sustainability, corporate social responsibility, and value-added strategies efficiency in small businesses. The evolution of multi-channel to Omni-channels for communication and sale initiatives has promoted firms to constantly search for the most appropriate channels for reaching and intercepting customers effectively (Verhoef et al., 2015). In this sense, social media platforms are a favorite channel for feedback, exchanging opinions, judgments, brand information, and performance. Roberts and Piller (2016) specified that social media has become a more integral part of the lives of people. Increasingly, firms are changing the use of social media to a business tool to enhance performance. At the same time, customers are now accepting products and brands communication via social media channels.

Social media networks provide an interactive and innovative meaning of business communication with customers, which triggers the interest of new products (Roberts & Piller, 2016). There are more than 1.8 million social media users in the world, and 77% of the participants are active either by link click, comments, and/or share (Kanuri et al., 2018). According to Kanuri et al. (2018), business organizations could use social media as a commercial dais for communication with consumers. Li et al. (2021) designated that it is vital for firms to effectively implement SMM to foster their ability to effectively communicate with customers in this era of sophisticated innovations and globalized markets. Employing effective strategies to implement SMM to improve consumers' engagement remains a problem for business managers. According to Omoyza and Agwu

(2016), 62% of marketers stated that one of the most challenging problems of business managers is to effectively adopt and implement SMM strategies.

In the global market, SMM remains one of the core innovation management strategies to gain a better understanding of consumers' purchase intentions as they share feedback and experiences online. Globalization of goods and services is vital in innovation management as it is a driving force for SBMs to become more innovative to engage consumers, remain competitive, and improve their market positioning (Story et al., 2015). Hassan et al. (2015) stated that social media and the Internet are crucial for small business competitiveness and innovation. The use of social media for marketing purposes is increasing, making it easier for small businesses to reach audiences outside of the immediate location (Sajid, 2016). According to Taalbi (2019), innovation is a driving force for the demand for a product or service or it promotes the expectation for next-generation products. Love and Roper (2015) discovered the existence of positive relationships between innovation, exportation, cash flow, and liquidity. However, there is a potential for cutbacks from social media platforms to firms for SMM that may have a negative impact on small businesses.

Many social media platforms have begun to cut back on brands' organic visibility and corporations while prioritizing individual users' content. Platforms like Facebook have cut on the use of user content as a way to feed news better for the average user; the issue is that this change will affect brands in the future as they may have to pay more to continue to achieve the same level of social reach (Hofacker & Belanche, 2016). The future of SMM on firms was a drastic cut on organic visibility, which may lead to paid

advertising as the only way to achieve meaningful reach. Therefore, SBMs need to develop and implement cost-effective SMM strategies, which may lead to improved consumers' reach.

Another vital factor that makes it necessary for small businesses to look for an effective SMM strategy to improve consumers' engagement is the use of big data analytics (BDA) on social media (social media analytics). Papadopoulos et al. (2016) stated that analytic tools can reduce marketing costs as it was costly to analyze traditional market reporting, which is not today because of the help of BDA. BDA also gives room for business organizations to tap into the exact details that form the marketing strategy of their competitors (Papadopoulos et al., 2016). Despite all the benefits, big data is still a dilemma for managers as it is difficult for marketers or managers to scrutinize the problems alone properly, no matter their expertise. BDA in the wrong hands may also lead to the mismanagement of personal information, individual profiling, discrimination, and breaching privacy (Gharajeh, 2018). However, for small businesses to avoid these issues, there is a need for managers to effectively adopt innovative marketing strategies and obtain information directly from consumers. Applying the DOI theory might serve SBMs and markets to understand how innovations are adopted and the benefits of new technologies to create effective SMM strategies.

Adoption of Marketing Innovations

The adoption of marketing innovations is vital as it contributes to the development and implementation of new marketing ideas and practices such as SMM, which firms use to improve consumer engagement and competitive position. Marketing

innovation helps in the definition and reinforcement of brand-consumer relationships, competitive advantages, and business performance (Cruz-Ros et al., 2017).

Contemporarily, marketing innovations are vital elements for the achievement of high business performance and a situation that leads to consumers' satisfaction and loyalty (Perčić et al., 2019). In 2016, Junge et al. stated that marketing innovation included the implementation of new marketing ideas and practices in the product. Perčić et al. (2019) described marketing innovation as the development, diffusion, and adoption of new communication channels with the market or promotion and new customer relationship management approaches.

The adoption of new information technology communication skills by business managers promoted sustainability and growth. Rogers (2003) noted that a useful concept for understanding DOI is adoption decisions. Rogers (2015) categorized adopters into five groups based on the length of time taken to adopt a possible innovation by using the bell curve. These adopters are innovators, early adopters, early majority, late majority, and laggards. Rogers based the degree of adoption on the objective advantages of an innovator and an adopter. Nevertheless, Rogers believed that potential adopters perceive adoption as the key to the fulfillment of the following primary five attributes: relative advantage, complexity, compatibility, trialability, and visibility (Perčić, et al., 2019).

A relative advantage to Rogers (2003) is the degree to which adopters perceive that new innovation is superior to the previous innovation. Compatibility is the degree of consistency of a perceived innovation concerning the existing value, needs of potential, and past experiences (Sujatha & Sekkizhar, 2019). Complexity is the rate of else of

understanding and of use of which others perceived an innovation. To Rogers (2015), trialability is the level of limitations to experiment an innovation before deciding to adopt fully. Visibility is how visible the result of the innovation is to other potential adopters (Rogers, 2015). Therefore, the higher the relative advantage is, the more likely is the adoption, the greater the compatibility is with current values and practices, the less the complexity, and the easier it is to experiment without full commitment, the more it is visible.

Rogers (2003) described innovation as a practice, idea, or new object as perceived by an individual or other adopters. Innovation helps in the creation and diffusion of new knowledge, which improves the ability of the economy to develop new products or services and more productive operation approaches. These improvements depend on technological knowledge and other forms of knowledge used to develop products, services, marketing, process, and organizational innovations (OECD, 2015). Prajogo (2016) affirmed that innovation is a principal element for achieving success, the foundation for improving economic competitiveness, and a coping mechanism for changing the business environment. Raynard (2017) stated that marketing innovation is a requirement for the ever-changing enterprise environment in new economic conditions.

Rogers (2003) recognized that innovation is a social process, which reflects a social change caused by both the process of invention and diffusion. In 1996, Kinnunen, started that one of the founding fathers of innovation diffusion, Tarde, said that it is the process of imitation that diffuses inventions. To contemporary researchers, imitation in diffusion terms could relate to the adoption of an innovation (Blank, 2020). In 2017,

Raynard attributed innovation as a successful marketing application of the invention, which means that not all inventions are successful innovations. Zanello et al. (2016) stipulated innovation must not be new to the market or the world, but it could be simply new to the company and have influenced productivity and employment.

Marketing innovations generally may entail the execution of new marketing practices such as changes in the design and packages of products, placement, and promotion, and pricing goods and services. Bakri (2017) related innovative marketing practices to the creation of a new market or promotion communication ways, new price formulation approaches, and the adoption of new communication means. Bakri (2017) also revealed that the creation of new marketing channels, new marketing research approaches, and new customer relationship management approaches are innovative marketing practices. Marketing innovation contributes to fortifying and defining goal setting, competitive advantages, and business performance (Cruz-Ros et al., 2017). The adoption of SMM is one of the innovative marketing practices that is vital for small businesses.

Adoption of Social Media Marketing

The reason for the marketing innovation trend gaining popularity is the adoption of social media podiums for effective marketing strategies. SMM is a vital marketing strategy for businesses to increase products, services, and brand visibility (Sajid, 2016). Nistor (2019) stated that SMM is a cost-effective approach to engage new customers and exceptionally beneficial for small businesses. As competition becomes increasingly intense, interaction with consumers via social media platforms has become essential for

businesses to market, promote, and remain sustainable (Lau, 2015). Consumers engage with brands by using their brand innovative marketing through social media platforms such as Facebook, Instagram, Twitter, and YouTube (Roch & Mosconi, 2016).

Innovation in marketing is the adoptive performance of new products or services, and its managers can measure its success with the use of perceived cost and benefits (Greenhalgh et al., 2004). In the postulations of the DOI theory, the perceived first step to diffusion is the acceptance of innovation and the adoption of the technology for use (Cirus, & Simonova, 2020). DOI theory the ways to which an innovation can diffuse due to communication and the interactions of consumers in a social network. In 1986, Rogers considered innovation diffusion in DOI theory as a social phenomenon with four phases: (i) the adoption demand of the innovation; (ii) communication via specific channels; (iii) social network communication among individuals; and (iv) communication over time (Rogers, 2003).

DOI was among the most regularly used theories to elucidate the innovative adoption of a social system and the acceptance of new technologies by the population (Rogers, 2003). Some businesses in manufacturing and marketing have used innovation and uniqueness to gain a competitive advantage (Brem et al., 2016). In Lupo and Stroman (2020) the adoption of social media is related to the features of DOI theory and found out that social media usage is beneficial to marketers to foster customer's adoption of innovation. The application of the theory of DOI theory could also be valuable to business managers in the process of developing then implementing strategies and new ideas for consumer adoption. In 1969, through revolutionary paradigm Bass forecasted

adoption based on the number of preceding adopters. The main idea behind the Bass approach is that media, in the case of this study, social media, starts the diffusion of innovation, and word-of-mouth (WOM) drives it forward in a cost-effective way. The use of SMM strategies is advantageous for small businesses in attaining brand loyalty, engaging consumers, and cost-effectively increasing sales.

A vital strategy to convey loyalty is to adopt and manage a brand image via social media by using the tools effectively and on time (Öztürk & Batum, 2019). Innovators and early adopters influence time as they can try innovations before fully adopting the innovation, while late adopters turn to experiment with innovation only after discovering the experiences of early adopters (Rogers, 2003; Smith et al., 2018). Early adopters have the predisposed the time it took late adopters to fully accept and adopt innovations (Kwon et al., 2021). Therefore, the earlier the adoption of SMM strategies by SBMs to improve consumer engagement, the better the ability to forecast consumers' preferences via interacting with consumers. According to Öztürk and Batum (2019), early adopters can directly envisage mass-market customers' preferences through their buying motives. The timely adoption of marketing innovations is a vital factor for small businesses as it helps in the achievement of high performance, competitive advantage, engagement of consumers, the satisfaction of the requirements of individual customers, and enforcement of consumers' loyalty (Niazi, 2017). Within this study, the contribution of small businesses to the U.S. economy and the perceived convolution was examined.

Contribution of Small Businesses to the U.S. Economy

Many small businesses are individually owned and operated firms that are not dominant in their field and are according to the number of employees (SBA, 2016). In the United States, these are firms with fewer than 500 employees. These businesses are essential to the U.S. economy as they significantly impact innovation, the creation of new and economic growth. These firms are a vital component of socio-economic development globally (Karadag, 2015). In 2015, these businesses in the U.S. have employed 58.9 million people, created 1.9 million net jobs, and represented 47.5% of the private workforce (SBA, 2018a). In that same year, Maryland small businesses employed 1.1 million people, representing 50.2% of the private workforce (SBA, 2018b). In the same firms with the largest share of employment were those with fewer than 100 employees (SBA, 2018a). In 2016, these firms of fewer than 100 employees accounted for 98.2% of the businesses (SBA, 2018a). Based on this record, the small business market is nothing but small, yet, a significant contributor to the U.S economy.

From 1995, small businesses created over 65% of net new jobs in the U.S. (SBA, 2016). From 1998 to 2014, the share of small businesses of the economy fell from 48.0% to 43.5%, as large companies experienced a faster nominal growth of 4.8% versus 3.3% for small businesses (Kobe & Schwinn, 2018). Though small businesses remain a robust engine of the U.S. economy, the fact is these businesses are losing their share of the economy to larger firms due to poor advertising or inadequate marketing (Cole et al., 2017; Kobe & Schwinn, 2018). According to Dobrinić, (2020), the principal components that influence promotion decisions in marketing are financial resources, available

advertising media, and the target audience. Advertising and the use of SMM may play a vital role in assisting small businesses to be more stable, competitive, and lasting (Mahony et al., 2018). In this study, the determinants of advertising and marketing communication were explored to probe SBMs to implement effective strategies that will improve their share in the economy. An explanation for the advertising attitude and marketing communication landscape with its elements of change was discussed in the following section.

Advertising Attitude

The understanding of advertising attitude is vital for a small business manager in the effective development and implementation of SMM strategies. Advertising is a non-personal presentation of information and persuasion about new ideas, products, or services usually paid for by identified sponsors via various media (Kotler & Armstrong, 2017). Advertising is prominent in the U.S.; many firms embraced it as a means of developing awareness, customer loyalty, brand equity, and sales (Cole et al., 2017). Though large businesses view advertising as an investment and means to reach customers, small businesses often do not see advertising as a revenue generator but as an expense (Douglas & Earl, 1982). Small business owners tend to be skeptical of advertising, primarily because results cannot be easily measured.

Small businesses also find it challenging to select the most appropriate advertising media while using the available, most cost-effective method. Small businesses confront cost pressure and competition and generally have limited financial and professional resources (Cole et al., 2017). The primary components that influence promotion

decisions are financial resources, available advertising media, and the target audience (Shoenberger et al., 2020). The attitudes of the audience toward advertising have been a multidimensional and controversial topic in research (Shoenberger et al., 2020). In 1982, Wills and Ryans found that there were polarized attitudes toward advertising. Calfee and Ringold (1988) showed a reasonable level of skepticism of advertising claims by customers as two-third of the population found it not trustworthy. Calfee and Ringold (1994) concluded in their later study that there is a high level of skepticism of advertising as most consumers often believe that it is a persuasive attempt to make consumers purchase what they do not need or want.

Some consumer groups and public policymakers rather believed that advertising skepticism is beneficial and necessary because it creates consumers' awareness of deceptive and unscrupulous advertisers' tactics (Dobrinić, 2020); these consumers believe that advertising is beneficial as it provides valuable information, which outweighs the disadvantages. Nevertheless, there has been a significant shift in advertising and marketing communication in recent years. Eid and El-Gohary's (2013) research on internet marketing, email marketing, and mobile marketing, found that small businesses most commonly use the internet, which included social media and email marketing. They concluded that the use of internet tools for marking had a positive impact on the success of small businesses. Lamberton and Stephen (2016) found a significant shift in marketing communication as digital and SMM have achieved a superior prominence.

Changing Landscape of Marketing Communication

Marketing communication is changing its landscape as interactive media such as SMM, which is gradually overtaking traditional media such as TV and radio. Social media and online advertising Apps are the latest method of marketing communications and the most effective and efficient tools for use by small business entrepreneurs (Mahony et al., 2018). The increasing use of social media tools and platforms influenced the rise of SMM after mass and direct marketing as the third era in the revolution of marketing (Perčić & Perić, 2021). In 2015, for the first time, spending on digital and SMM became more than traditional advertising expenditures on television (EMarketer, 2016). In 2021, the ad of Facebook's reach grew by 8% globally and up to 23% in the U.S while the cost of advertisements on social media platforms also saw a grew of more than 30% due to high competition for ad space. Social media have rapidly changed consumer's patterns of sharing information, and brand interaction, the same way that rapid growth of mobile phone mobilization, as it has opened new marketing communications and targeting opportunities (Lamberton & Stephen, 2016).

Small businesses and social network sites like Facebook are shifting from basically having social media presence to actively using video and social media ads content to engage with their consumers (Bouranta et al., 2019). In a survey of the top active tech companies in the market in the first week of April 2021, conducted by SurveyMonkey, the use of videos and social media ads have increased drastically in SMM as marketers considered it the most important marketing tool in the sector (Financial News Media, 2021).

However, some small businesses find it challenging to select the most appropriate advertising while using the available, most cost-effective, and time-efficient method (Blank, 2020). These businesses also confront cost pressure and competition and generally have limited financial and professional resources (Jackson & Parasuraman, 1986). Despite having limited resources, to stay competitive, small businesses must find a way to stand out, reach, and engage consumers in the marketplace. One of the prominent options to achieve these goals is the use of SMM due to its low cost and the ability for consumers to share information and interact.

Social Media as a Part of Direct Marketing

Direct marketing is an interactive system that has one or more promotional media aimed at providing an assessable response and/or transaction in any way (Kotler, 2017). Direct marketing uses various media to achieve its purpose, which includes direct mail, newspapers, telephone, catalogs, magazines, television, social media, mobile phone, each of which comes with its disadvantages and advantages (Kihyun & Kumar, 2018). Direct marketing is one of the most energetic marketing areas and part of integrated marketing communication tools that create and sustain good relationships with consumers to attract, satisfy, engage, and retain them (Perčić & Perić, 2021). Nevertheless, when firms do not effectively target direct marketing activities, they can have an adverse high cost turning from profitable promotion activity to a loss (Kihyun & Kumar, 2018). Thus, targeting the effective implementation of SMM as one direct marketing activity is vital.

SMM is one of the interactive direct marketing that enhances the advertisers and consumers with the ability of individualization and interaction, which represents micro

marketing. The use of social media advertising relies on the creation of several networks and integrated relations between the social media platform and the advertising company (Wirtz et al., 2017). A major aspect of using the approach of SMM strategy is the appeal of consumers for marketers to create via social media advertisements. Firms should use advertising as a communication means of creating awareness, customer loyalty, brand equity, and sales (Cole et al., 2017). For firms to develop a good consumers-brands relationship, they must prioritize brands, relationships, and quality (BRQ; Lou & Koh, 2017).

Consumer-Brand Relationship

Consumer-brand relationship in marketing has moved from a product orientation to customer orientation and caring orientation. The increasing use of social networking sites (SNS) such as Facebook, Twitter, and Google+, has led to firms creating their social media presence and pursuing the engagement of potential customers to establish a friendly customer-brand relationship (Kujur & Singh, 2020). Consumers use the internet to find their desired product or service. Therefore, to attract consumers, advertisers need to optimize their websites using Search Engine Optimization (SEO) centered on keywords. Businesses can increase the number of visits to their website by using SEO to position their sites on search engines freely. For example, the use of promotion on Google and Google AdWords are paid ads that customers can reach by typing the appropriate words chosen by the company.

Businesses use social media to promote these websites through their free online platforms and tools such as social networks, photo sharing, blogs, online videos to

promote these web site, social media. For a marketer, Instagram and Facebook are effective promotional tools that advertisers can use to create a product or service promotion page, and the use of paid ads sets the standard for successful advertising (Zahy, 2017). To be successful, small businesses should precisely target consumers to attract members from their target group (Khamitov et al., 2019). This targeted marketing can lead to people voluntarily following the firm via social networks, which may eventually start direct communication with the firm.

Communication with customers helps in providing the firm with essential information, negotiating on product or service style, taking orders, and delivering. Therefore, SMM brings about a robust consumer-brand relationship. Nevertheless, Moncey and Baskaran (2020) revealed the increasing negative effect on firm reputation due to negative consumer voice on social media. Chen and Lien (2017) indicated that companies can improve marketing effectiveness via stronger consumer-brand relationships and if consumers perceived a brand to have high quality. Therefore, the business initiatives of social media networking, such as brand fan pages, can affect virtual community attitudes and enhance the quality of a brand relationship and circulate positive WOM (Akrout & Nagy, 2018).

The Glitz of Social Media Marketing

The glitz of SMM to small business researchers relates to the effectiveness of SMM in small business growth (Musa et al., 2016). The study of Razak and Latip (2016) on the use of social media by Malaysian revealed that ease of use, perceived usefulness, and satisfaction motivated firms to use SMM. Kumar, et al. (2016) showed increased use

of social media by companies due to their reach. Icha and Edwin (2015) compared the effectiveness of SMM and likened it to that of traditional marketing. There are many benefits for small businesses in using SMM.

Koumpouros, et al. (2015) in Greece disclosed that physicians and healthcare firms must use such SMM to meet the needs of their patients. However, the authors realized a need to research the way to measure efforts like marketing efforts. Sriram's study (2016) showed that libraries could effectively use SMM for their services.

Taiminen and Karjaluoto (2015) discovered that there is an obstinate gulf between SMM activities and practices innovated by marketing theory. Mahony et al. (2018) indicated the importance of how small businesses develop and use social media strategies to take full advantage of the tools. Gould and Nazarian (2018), revealed a great return on investment on social media and its worth to medical practice.

A lot of existing social media research focused either on R&D or marketing (Roch & Mosconi, 2016; Siamagka et al., 2015; Voigt & Ernst, 2010). Nevertheless, little research has been done specifically on the interface between SMM and business-consumer or consumer-to-business relationship settings. Specifically, several researchers demonstrated the need for a structural explanation for the adoption of social media engagement strategy (Cawsey & Rowley, 2016; Guesalaga, 2016; Lau, 2015) for improved marketing and consumer engagement. The next sections assessed determinants concerning the effective use of SMM tools to improve consumer engagement.

Consumer Engagement Strategy

Small business managers need to understand how to use SMM strategy effectively to improve consumer engagement. Customer engagement is an emerging concept in the literature of information systems, marketing, and small business management, which has recently been scrutinized by many researchers (Dessart et al., 2015; Kumar & Pansari, 2016; Muñoz-Expósito et al., 2017; Shrestha et al., 2019). Hollebeek et al. (2014) stated that consumer engagement is the psychological state of consumers because of their interactive experience with a firm, brand, and other consumers. Therefore, customer engagement strategies involve giving consumers an unforgettable experience with a psychological feeling of being an essential part of the firm (Moreno-Munoz et al., 2016). The use of social media platforms is an effective way to improve consumer engagement.

In this era of a globalized market, managers are under pressure to innovate to add value to products and improve consumers' services to satisfy consumers' needs and to effectively reach and engage consumers (Haleem et al., 2018). Managers can, therefore, use SMM strategy to improve product image and services as well as use social media to improve consumer engagement (Constantinides, 2014). Social media engages consumers by giving them that voice via platforms where their opinions can be heard via clicks of like or dislike, making comments, and even share electronic word-of-mouth. Giving customers a feeling of the importance of belonging, engagement strategies make customers feel they have an important voice in the company (Moreno-Munoz et al., 2016). According to Dessart et al. (2015), an effective customer engagement strategy enhances brand loyalty and is critical for the survival of small businesses.

Small businesses can foster consumer loyalty and engagement by using SMM strategies with attractive social media platforms for shopping and by giving customers a memorable shopping experience. The creation of attractive shopping podiums and providing an unforgettable shopping experience to customers can eventually foster consumers' loyalty (Algharabat et al., 2020). According to Fang et al. (2015) attracted customers were more likely to click on advertising links, thereby increasing traffic and associated business activities. Consumers can easily engage in a brand or firm via the adoption of smart mobile devices for marketing and communication. The widespread consumer adoption of smart mobile devices, has a direct effect on consumer behavior, thereby calling for a change in the type of market environment (Lamberton & Stephen, 2016). Therefore, small businesses need to include SMM, as it is essential for the effective engagement of consumers.

Chakravarty et al. (2014) stated that 80% of 24 small businesses have depended on satisfied customers via shopping purchasing experience. These satisfied customers are more likely to positively view the firm, repeat business transactions, and spread word-of-mouth content (Chen & Chen, 2014). Close connection with customers increases the flexibility of small businesses in improving their market position (Kajalo & Lindblom, 2015). Therefore, developing strategies that can effectively engage customers is a key concern for marketers. Rad et al. (2015) stated that the perspectives of customers and the communication value is crucial for marketers. An effective consumer engagement strategy is significantly beneficial in the realization of the outcomes of brand performance such as brand loyalty, reduced operational costs, sales growth, superior

profitability, positive word-of-mouth, and brand referrals (Dwivedi, 2015; Fang, 2016; Hollebeek et al., 2019; Singh & Srivastava, 2019). An effective implemented SMM strategy may improve consumer engagement via the spread of positive WOM.

Word-of-Mouth Communication

Word-of-mouth (WOM) is sharing information and/or rumor between individuals (Haikel-Elsabeh et al., 2019). The authors also stated that WOM conversations have a higher influence on consumer behavior than traditional advertising or media. Word-of-mouth is an effective advertising means of transmitting information to target audiences (Levy & Gvili, 2015). Negative WOM harms consumers' behaviors towards the brand, product, or service, while positive WOM motivates the target audience to engage with the brand. Generally, WOM provides firms with valuable customer feedback concerning products or services, usage, and consumer characteristics (Bond et al., 2019). Marketers can motivate WOM by offering free products or services, discounts, and portraying a favorable self-image. According to Chen (2017), consumers are more likely to spread positive and useful WOM to recipients about interesting products. Therefore, the highest value of motivating positive WOM is to satisfy consumers (Pauwels et al., 2016).

Akrout and Nagy's (2018) study on brand trust and commitment revealed that satisfied consumers turn to have a high level of engagement leading to a strong brand relationship and the spread of positive WOM. Positive WOM increased brand trust, brand commitment, and quality of consumer-brand-relationship, which, in turn, increases WOM (Akrout & Nagy, 2018). Positive WOM is vital for a small business with limited resources. Bond et al. (2019) described it as an unpaid form of advertising, where

consumers talk about products, services, and brands, make recommendations, and spread WOM content. Men and Tsai (2015) suggested that the interaction and engagement of consumers on social media sites positively enhanced business relationships with interested audients. Companies manage the relationships of consumers in multichannel communication settings, by creating the right number and type of touchpoints to give customers an enjoyable positive experience along with their customer journey (Gill et al., 2017; Lambrecht & Misra, 2017). Facebook brand pages for many firms represent a vital touch for beginning and maintaining customer relationships via electronic word of mouth (Dessart, 2017).

Electronic Word-of-Mouth Communication

Electronic word-of-mouth (eWOM) is a positive and negative report, or any written form of communication spread through the internet and social media about a product, service, or brand made by actual and potential customers. (Erkan & Evans, 2016; Filieri & McLeay, 2013). Communication via eWOM includes personal WOM and commercial WOM. There are various ways to do eWOM, such as via site reviews, email, websites, blogs, instant messaging, online communities, chatrooms, newsgroups, hate sites, and social networking sites (Badrul Hisham et al., 2020). Social media provide consumers with an interactive platform with each other, which produced eWOM and provided free advertising by sharing brand content and promoting image (Haikel-Elsabeh et al., 2019). The use of social media to like, post, share, and comment increased the visibility of consumers' brand engagement and influenced their friends and followers to engage in eWoM (Haikel-Elsabeh et al., 2019).

User engagement is a behavioral demonstration that enforces motivation for a consumer to attach to a brand beyond using it (Abusamhadana et al., 2019). Consumers create awareness to increase adoption of innovation and brand sale by sharing positive experiences about new innovations with family, friends, and brand audients. Business managers should leverage eWOM by communicating effectively with firms' target audience by guiding consumer discussions according to the company's mission and marketing goals. Shrestha et al. (2019), postulated that eWOM communication via social media about choices of health clinics that provide oral and maxillofacial service communities improve awareness and brand trust of oral and maxillofacial surgery (OMS) clinic. Businesses with positive eWOM connected social media and social media content marketing increased consumers' awareness when choosing health clinics that provide OMS, which is a drive to brand trust and consumer brand commitment (Shrestha et al., 2019). The key propositions of SMM strategy that foster awareness, promote eWOM, and help to engage consumers are content marketing and connected social media strategy.

Social Media Content Marketing Strategy

Social media content marketing (SMCM) refers to a brand's information medium via which consumers gain information about the brand (Ahmad et al., 2016). Harris and Rae (2009) revealed that the purpose of social media use in content creation is for marketing and the management of customer relationships. Kilgour et al. (2015) found that content marketing is an effective factor in consumer engagement and media sharing in spaces of interest. Shrestha et al. (2019) revealed that SMM content is a generator of high traffic on a website; therefore, SMCM has a leading voice in firms, and a significant

amount of social media users are using content. With the power of social media, it is convenient for marketers to cover large customer bases to hear their voices.

Small business managers have started to recognize the potential impact of SMM (Gümüs & Kütahyali, 2017), yet they still encounter challenges in exploiting them effectively (Fink et al., 2018). SMEs' limited marketing knowledge, time, financial, and human resources were the main constrain for SMM content creation (Gould & Nazarian, 2018). These limitations hinder the adoption of new technology, such as the SMM initiation (Broekemier et al., 2015). In marketing, the new dynamic environment requires an interactive communication style, constant attention, and content creation. Small businesses usually underestimate the concentrated labor and time needed for content creation (O'Dwyer et al., 2009).

Burgess (2016) emphasized that the creation of rich content in SMM is crucial to attract attention and convert and engage a consumer to a brand. Gümüs and Kütahyali (2017) showed that SMM is an opportunity for SMEs to lure customers at a reasonably low cost, and more SMEs are getting to adopt this marketing technique. However, the creation of rich content remains a significant challenge for SMEs, as limited resources influence SME processes and determine their SMM content (Kraus, et al., 2019). Small businesses can overcome these barriers and succeed in content marketing by a consistent distribution of valuable content to the firm's target audience to drive the reaction of a profitable customer (Kraus et al., 2019). Businesses can succeed in converting, retaining, and engaging customers by regularly and timely managing their content quality.

Small business managers can engage consumers in SMCM by involving customers and employees in SMM content creation, by actively reaching consumers via prizes, tags, and giveaways, and developing content SMM regular and timely schedule (Broekemier et al., 2015; Nevin & Torres, 2012). Pollák and Dorčák (2016) revealed that contents posted between 8 p.m. and midnight attracted the highest number of Likes than contents posted between noon and 4 p.m. Shrestha et al. (2019) stated that to improve information delivery SMCM stresses the importance of usefulness, quality, validity, and positively directing brand-consumer interaction. Kraus et al. (2019) added that it is vital for SMEs to choose an appropriate style of communication and to ensure that the SMM content is vibrant, entertaining, trustworthy, and connected with the content of other social media platforms. Effective managers and marketers seek for excellent content and robust social media connectivity to increase traffic and brand trust.

Connected Social Media Strategy

Connected Social Media is a new social network strategy used to attract, engage, and retain consumers by establishing brand trust among social media users via the use of multiple social media platforms. Shrestha et al. (2019) in a study of patient choices of health clinics in Australia, showed that connected social media enhance and inspire buzz in any operation. In communication, the high levels of emotional content encouraged robust brand relationships (Hahn et al., 2016). Brands with sufficient information provided by multiple social media podiums have enough evidence for the attractiveness of the service through significant amounts of information, and people are likely to trust the brand. Shrestha et al. (2019) used connected social media and hashtag campaigns to

spread innovation, create awareness, and generate high traffic in consumer health discussions. Small businesses should effectively develop and implement connected social media to create brand awareness and improve consumer engagement.

When developing and implementing social media strategies, a firm should select platforms that match their target audience, align their strategies across platforms, allocate governance responsibility, develop accessible and integrated or connectivity activity across all media and develop risk management policies (Kaplan & Haenlein, 2010; Reilly & Hynan, 2014). Öztürk and Batum (2019) stipulated that SBMs should use a connected social media strategy by aligning brand content when using multiple social media platforms to build awareness, trust, and improve consumers' engagement. Shrestha et al. (2019) study of patient choices of health clinics in Australia, showed that users prefer social media tools, that are actively used, trusted, and with many links. Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn, and YouTube are among the most used social media tool.

When implementing a connected social media strategy, firm content on the chosen platforms should also match the audience and be frequently updated. Shrestha et al. (2019) illustrated that social media users preferred to use Facebook as a source of stories of previous brand success stories. Social media users preferred Twitter for ads, news, and promotions, as well as creating awareness through hashtags. Öztürk and Batum (2019) stipulated that brands should preferably use LinkedIn for brand introduction, exhibiting content to create a brand image and improve consumer engagement.

Lepkowska-White et al., (2019) showed that the different social media platforms used, the intensity, variety, or frequency, variety of SMM activities, and integration or

connectivity of activities are vital as these might influence consumer perceptions of brand equity.

Advantages of Using Social Media Platforms

When small businesses take advantage of existing social media platforms, they can create new business strategies and adapt marketing strategies to positively engage consumers, increase revenue, and remain competitive (Felix et al., 2017). The advantages using of social media tools included consumer self-support, sharing of information between consumers and the firm, referrals, increased brand, product, or service awareness, reduce operation cost, increase consumers' satisfaction, brand loyalty and increase purchase (Karimi & Naghibi, 2015; Sajid, 2016).

Business managers could use social media tools to improve the understanding of consumers (Parsons & Lepkowska-White, 2018). Marketing and business managers often use consumer feedback on platforms like Facebook, Twitter or Instagram, to track current and future purchases via consumer-provided status updates, which managers might use to develop and implement strategies that motivate consumers' engagement and retention (Sashi et al., 2019).

Social media was found to be advantageous to businesses for virtual communication, sale promotion, direct marketing, low-cost marketing, publicity collaboration on projects, writing blogs and microblogs, and networking in personal and professional sceneries (Perčić & Perić, 2021). The use of social media applications was observed to have enhanced the performance of business communication and collaboration, which increased business performance and was customizable to suit the

business objectives of a company (Sajid, 2016). Financially, Buhalis and Mamalakis (2015) showed a 656% increase in return on capital after 14 months of the study of social media activities in the Princess Andriana Hotel in Rhodes, Greece.

Buhalis and Mamalakis (2015) designated the nonfinancial benefits of using social media platforms for business activities as improved product reach, customers' engagement, and high brand recognition. The study of Lepkowska-White et al. (2019) on small restaurants in the US showed that social media platforms are sources of providing reliable business information. The authors concluded that ignoring social media for only a week might be detrimental to the business, especially in case any problem occurred during the period. The empirical study of marketing innovation might increase understanding of how and why SBMs adopt SMM (Fityan & Huseynov, 2018). Since the main source of small business profit comes from target audients with a positive psychological attitude and high social approval, managers should develop and implement SMM strategies to improve consumers' engagement (Zaitseva et al., 2019).

Transition

In section 1, the business problem leading this study, the purpose statement, the central research question, and the selected method and design most appropriate for my research from the precedent studies were examined. I explained the conceptual framework and continued with the definitions, assumptions, limitations, and a transitory analysis of the significance of the study concerning developing and implementing SMM strategies of small businesses in Maryland, United States. The section ended with a broad review of existing professional and academic literature from studies and articles that are

associated with why and how small businesses adopt SMM strategies. Section 2 consists of the purpose statement, the role of the researcher, the sample of the study, and the research method and design. This section will continue with the discussion of ethical research, data collection, and data analysis. The conclusion in this section was drafted by measures to enhance the reliability and validity of the study.

Section 2: The Project

The purpose of this qualitative exploratory multiple case study was to explore the strategies that SBMs use to develop and effectively implement SMM strategies to improve consumers' engagement. The specific study population consisted of six business managers of six successful small businesses in Maryland. The business impact to the organizations may include the potential for SBMs to have a better understanding of social media and be able to develop and implement SMM strategies to engage consumers effectively and bring about business growth. The implication of positive social change to the community is business growth, which could result in increased employment and tax revenues, poverty reduction, leading to an improved living standard for the people in local communities.

Role of the Researcher

Maintaining rigor and credibility throughout the research is a vital component in this research study. Qualitative research methods versatility permits the researcher to obtain reliable findings within a variety of methodologies that align with the purpose of the ongoing research (Yin, 2018). The role of researchers in a qualitative case study is in capturing the knowledge and experience of the participants. In this study, my ethical research association with participants in the field was of paramount importance for an effective conclusion. Masud (2018) suggested that the ethical position of the researcher, as well as the attitude, describes the means to derive scientific knowledge, and the definition of objects' relationships along with the research goals influence the scope of the study and the researcher's path. De Mooy and Yuen (2017) stipulated that ethics is a

necessary part of research discussion. In an organizational study, the concept of reflexivity has always been part of qualitative research methods and is a significant part of data analysis (Alvesson & Sköldberg, 2017). I protected the trustworthiness of the data from reflexivity-generated bias by using other sources of evidence to supplement the primary data as represented by participant insights and to search for contrary evidence diligently.

Matta (2019) mentioned that the role of the researcher is to collect, organize, and analyze data. As the key instrument for data collection, my role was to select participants, organize interviews, examine company documents, analyze data collected, interpret the findings, and report the results. Marshall and Rossman (2016) posited that to improve the trustworthiness and mitigate biases of the findings, researchers must avoid selecting participants with whom there is a working or personal relationship. Participated with whom I was associated with them via work or personally were not selected to mitigate biases and improve the credibility of the results.

When dealing with human subjects, the ethical guidelines from Belmont Report (BR) protocol was used. The three basic ethical principles of BR are respect of person, justice, and benevolence. All three principles were applied when interacting with participants. Effective reflexivity management was conducted to evaluate my positioning role as the researcher. In a qualitative study, the ability of the researcher to effectively execute self-evaluation, identify the effectiveness of the research inquiry, and findings by positionality determine the accuracy and trustworthiness of the study (FitzPatrick, 2019). Participants were not influenced improperly but took either a position of empathy or

apathy toward the participants' experiences. In-depth interviews were conducted, and other data collection methods were implemented, such as observation and review company of documentations as purposed by methodological triangulation. In a multiple case study, an in-depth interview is considered a reliable method of data collection as it can offer and reveal themes when the researcher dialogues with the research participants (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). Frequent data patterns were detected and categorized appropriately.

All forms of bias that may influence the results of the research were detected and tackled. Marshall and Rossman (2016) noted that even though researchers have a personal interest in a topic, they should avoid demonstrating any bias in the study. When describing the study to participants, bias was avoided, and each participant was separately accepted as a case study, which will further be used for case comparison. During data collection, neutrality was maintained by watching against any body language that can influence the respondents. A qualitative researcher also plays the role of an observer, which includes choosing images and artifacts, handling, note-taking, studying, interpreting data according to the research design, and keeping all participant information such as real names and identities confidential was vital during data collection. Chongo et al. (2018) stated researchers might use markers, take pictures, and pattern all external and internal documents. Employing bracketing methods was vital in mitigating assumptions and curtailing biases in the process of data collection.

Participants

Qualitative researchers understand that some sources of research informants or participants have a better position to provide compelling insight and resources than others. Schrag (2017) stated that before date collection, researchers base their participants' recruitment on participants' characteristics, which aligns with the overarching research question. Several researchers have suggested that valuable insights must come from participants who have appropriate experiences that relate to the overarching research question (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Yin, 2018). Yin (2018) stated that the willingness of a participant to partake in a study is vital.

Researchers should employ suitability criteria in the selection of knowledgeable and willing participants who can offer relevant data on the research topic (Idri, 2016). The key criteria for inclusion in this study was that participants must be small business managers, owners, or marketing managers who have successfully developed and implemented SMM strategies to engage consumers. Thus, I chose participants who met the following eligibility criteria: (a) small business owners or managers, in Maryland, (b) willing to participate, and (c) have successfully developed and implemented an SMM strategy. I identified six SBMs or owners from three different small businesses who have successfully develop and implement a SMM strategy to contact for the study. Neale et al. (2014), noted that obtaining access to participants involves a combination of hard work, strategic planning, and luck.

Researchers often receive authorization from a gatekeeper within an organization to carry out research (Gülmez et al., 2016). A gatekeeper is an individual within a firm

who controls an investigator's access to research (Gülmez et al., 2016). Gatekeepers must make decisions that ensure the welfare of the people and the company they stand in for (Whicher et al., 2015). Small Business owners and top managers were the main participants recruited; therefore, the chances of encountering gatekeepers who may restrict access to potential participants is minimal. Prospective participants were identified, and each small business owner or top manager was contacted directly via email with a letter of recruitment.

The participant recruitment letter is a description of the nature and importance of the study. Powell et al. (2016) stated that after ascertaining the eligible participants for the study, researchers should offer an invitation letter to the participants. While sending the recruitment letter, I included the informed consent form which entailed the description and procedure of the study; the time limit; the possible risk and benefits of participation; a statement of voluntary participation, and no consequences for refusal; the option to withdraw; and confidentiality rights. The interested participants were requested to sign the informed consent form.

Hirschberg et al. (2014) stated that building trust required instituting a working rapport with participants and their participation decision in a study. Puig et al. (2015) noted that it is vital to establish trust by creating a positive relationship with participants. A working relationship with each participant was created by communication via email, virtual communication devices, and phone. Yin (2018) suggested that to observe a case study protocol effectively, and a researcher must build a working relationship with

participants. My constant communication with the participants entails an explanation of the reason and significance of my study to clarify any doubts and obtain their support.

Research Method and Design

A qualitative multiple case study is beneficial in obtaining profound perceptions of the small business owners and managers on effective SMM strategies. Multiple case study allows an in-depth description and analysis of two or more cases, which a researcher can use to investigate dissimilarities in cases and to grasp undeniable facts (Yin, 2018). The purpose of this study was to explore the strategies that SBMs use to develop and effectively implement SMM strategies to improve consumers' engagement. Qualitative approach research is appropriate when the researcher intends to thoroughly explore and obtained an exhaustive understanding of how individuals or groups place meaning to a human or social issue (Corti & Fielding, 2016). Researchers use a case study to systematically explore and obtain an exhaustive understanding of a specific inquire in a natural environment (Morgan et al., 2017).

Research Method

The research methodology that was used for this study is qualitative, with a multiple case study method and design. Researchers use qualitative methods to explain how and why interpretive approaches are used to interpret, translate, decode, accept the meaning of specific phenomena, and without representing the frequency of the phenomenon (Yin, 2018). Employing a qualitative research approach is vital in acquiring a deep understanding of my business problem by using different data sources. Practically, qualitative researchers use in-depth approaches, which involve collecting and analyzing

data using interviews, focus groups, case study, assembling, observation, and action research (Holloway & Galvin, 2016; Starcher et al., (2018). Qualitative methods are vital for researchers who want to use probe questions to collect an in-depth and more philosophical understanding of specific circumstances from the participant's experience (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The use of probe questioning and recording devices are also employed in qualitative research to clarify any uncertainties and achieve a high level of substantial validity (Matta, 2019).

Quantitative researchers employ precise measurement by using a rigorous and controlled model to assess phenomena (Bryman, 2016). Quantitative researchers examine the connections between numeric variables, test hypotheses via trials and surveys, and test theories by evaluating statistical data (Yin, 2018). Quantitative researchers lack the opportunity to comprehend a phenomenon in depth (Rendle-Short, 2019). I chose qualitative methods over quantitative research to deeply comprehend a phenomenon.

The mixed research methodology was not appropriate for this study. Mixed-method approaches include the in-depth study of phenomena related to qualitative methods and a combination of experimental testing linked with quantitative methods (Hesse-Biber, 2015). Mixed-method researchers take advantage of the benefits offered from the invocation of qualitative and quantitative methods (Zhang et al., 2020). However, mixed approaches were not used for this study due to the lack of hypotheses to test the underlying attributes or relationships between variables. The mixed method is appropriate when exploring qualitative aspects as well as examining the quantitative factors of a phenomenon (Yin, 2018). Therefore, qualitative research is suitable for this

study as I explored in-depth the experiences of SBMs in developing and implementing effective SMM strategies.

Research Design

Phenomenology, ethnography, and case study designs are considered predominantly qualitative research designs (Ingham-Broomfield, 2016). Researchers employ case studies to investigate a current phenomenon and help comprehend the real-time context of an experience (Lewis & Molyneux, 2018; Yin, 2018). Case studies offer researchers the opportunity to conduct face-to-face interviews, where they can observe sign language and verbally probe the interviewee to receive deep data from feedback (Yin, 2018). Researchers use case studies design to answer how and why a phenomenon exists and to achieve possible outcomes to the phenomenon (Yin, 2018). Case study researchers who collect data from multiple sources provided a more comprehensive analysis of research questions, which increased the credibility of the findings (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). In this study, I applied a multiple case study design to establish a more comprehensive evaluation and complete insight into the business problem in real life using multiple sources.

Phenomenological and ethnographic designs are not appropriate for this study because of the attributes and goals related to each. Researchers who employ a phenomenological design, do so to focus on the respondent's perspective of a situation or event concerning their life experience (Rutberg & Bouikidis, 2018). The use of participants' lived experiences is an intrusive means to explore data on a business issue (Dante, 2015). Phenomenological design studies are best for exploring human affective

behavior, intensely social, and shared social phenomenon experiences (Matta, 2019), which is not the goal of this study.

De Chesnay and Abrums (2015) postulated that ethnographic research is referred to as a design, which involves close observation of people in their ecological environments. Researchers employ ethnographic research design to observe cultures, groups, and organizations, closely (Crandall et al., 2016). The use of ethnographic techniques entails an extended period of observation of cultural groups (Dalmer, 2019). The ethnographic technique was not used for this study because exploring live experiences data of culture from participants is unsuitable for business study. Therefore, a multiple case study design was employed with the purposed of having credible, in-depth data as I conducted multiple interviews until data saturation was reached.

Data saturation occurs when the researchers' efforts to collect additional data do not result in new information (Tran et al., 2017). Data saturation is that stage where, after conducting multiple interviews, the subsequent participants offer no new information to the already provided information from the previous interviewees. In this stage of data saturation, the further interviews that were conducted yielded diminishing returns in the quality information, repetitions, and redundancy in the information This signifies a need to stop the process and that the quest for data saturation has been fulfilled. Researchers can reach data saturation by probing participants, adding the number of participants, and engaging participants in member checking, and engagement of methodological triangulation (Baškarada, 2014). Qualitative researchers add depth to data by employing triangulation (Denzin, 2012). The rich, in-depth data collection provides a direct

connection between triangulation and data saturation (Fusch, et al., 2018). To reach data saturation, I conducted semi-structured interviews, asked probing questions for more clarity during interviews, involved the participants in member checking, and employed methodological triangulation. Data were collected until no additional new data was obtained and no new themes or patterns were found.

Population and Sampling

In the general concept of research sampling in the study of Wirtz et al. (2017), sampling is the foundation of research integrity. Despite the methodology employed, the decision to select a sampling method for this study was to maximize validity and efficiency. In this multiple case study, I searched for depth understanding of the view of SBMs or owners in Maryland who have successfully develop and implement a SMM strategy to improve consumers' engagement. Purposeful sampling was employed to identify and select six SMM knowledgeable and experienced participants. Qualitative researchers widely use purposeful sampling techniques for identifying and selecting participants or groups of participants who are especially experienced or knowledgeable about a phenomenon of interest (Boddy, 2016). In addition to knowledge and experience, a purposeful sampling includes critical points like participants' availability, willingness, and articulate communication ability (Spradley, 1976; Zhang et al., 2017). Several researchers have found that using purposeful sampling increased the credibility and efficiency of studies (Diedricks et al., 2018). Researchers identify participants using purposeful sampling to improve the trustworthiness of data collected through interviews (Van Rijnsoever, 2017).

Valerio et al. (2016) stated that the alternate purposeful sampling methods employed by researchers are convenience sampling and snowball sampling. Convenience sampling techniques are choices which researchers make to use specific sampling approaches and strategies to identify individuals who fit their study criteria (Wall Emerson, 2021). Convenience sampling is vital to recruiting participants with ease and convenience (Valerio et al., 2016). For example, Aktin (2019), employed convenience sampling because the sample location was easily accessible. Convenience sampling was inappropriate in this study because SBMs who were easy to locate and conveniently available may not have had the relevant expert knowledge needed in this qualitative case study. The snowball sampling method is a sampling technique in a direct social environment where already recruited participants designate new respondents (Bailey, 2019). Snowball sampling is vital when finding difficulties in recruiting participants (Valerio et al., 2016). However, snowball sampling was not suitable for this study since I did not interview participants in a direct social environment via sociometric questions (Audemard, 2020).

The study entailed the use of purposeful sampling to reach a specialized population of owners and top managers of small businesses in Maryland with a record of employing SMM strategies to improve consumers' engagement. I conducted semi-structured interviews to obtain depth data from participants. Semi-structured interviews were conducted to gain deep data from participants. Researchers should select a suitable interview setting to ensure participants' comfort, confidentiality, and a favorable setting for uninterrupted interview dialog (Dodds & Hess, 2020; Ecker, 2017). Interviews took

place in a comfortable location that was agreed upon for the convenience of each participant, such as the participants' office or the library's meeting room or video conferencing interview through Zoom, Skype, or Google meeting.

As the researcher, I conducted six in-depth individual face-to-face or video conferencing interviews with the participants recruited. Schram (2006) suggested that for a qualitative study, a rage of five to 10 participants was appropriate as a larger sample size could be a hindrance to an in-depth exploration of the studied phenomena. In a social media strategy research that business managers use to increase sales (Ezeife, 2017), intentionally selected five participants. Dean (2019) conducted a qualitative case study with six participants to explore the SMM strategies used by small retail business owners to improve sales. Therefore, the use of six participants in this study was justifiable from prior studies conducted by Dean, Ezeife, and Schram because of the similarities in the topic, scope, method, and design. Following the interviews, I reviewed the firms' SMM strategies records and annual and consumer reports to validate participants' responses.

Ethical Research

Ethical researchers protect themselves and their participants by obtaining signed informed consent from participants before collecting data via interviews, observation, or experiments (Eisnecker & Kroh, 2017). To abide by ethical research standards outlined in the Belmont Report and Walden's Institutional Review Board (IRB) protocol, researchers must obtain informed consent from participants (Grady, 2015). Participants should receive enough information about the research to make an informed decision (Allen, 2019). Before conducting the semi-structured interviews with participants, permission

was obtained from Walden's IRB to identify, select, contact, interview the participants and the informed consent was obtained from the participants. Each participant was given the personal contact information, including the informed consent form with a detailed introduction to the study, the risks and benefits, and guidelines of participating in the research. Participants participated in the study voluntarily and without any form of monetary compensation. An additional email was sent to inform each participant who chose to withdraw from participating in notifying me via my email, telephone, or inperson.

Walden University's IRB mandates ethical research practices to ensure researchers protect participants from unnecessary risk or harm. A researcher has the responsibility to protect the participant's identifiers (Oetzel et al., 2015). Additionally, researchers should employ code names to enhance the confidentiality of the identity of participants within the study – at all stages (Spillane et al., 2017). To maintain ethical protection, right, and confidentiality, all participants' identifiable information remained confidential. To enhance the confidentiality of the identity of participants; participants were coded as P1, P2, P3, P4, P5, and P6, for all records.

Griffith (2014) recommended all participant-related material and documents be secured for at least five years before disposing of them to ensure anonymity. Participants were informed that commencing from the official date of completion of the study, a fireproof safe was used to securely locked all notes taken, and audio recording devices, as well as a password-locked computer, were used to store all electronic data for five years. After the fifth year, all printed research records were shredded and incinerated destroyed,

while all electronic and digital files were permanently deleted using programmable software such as KillDisk.

Sources of Data

Cypress (2017) stated that instrumentally, the ultimate qualitative research data collection tool was the researcher. Castillo-Montoya (2016) listed some data collection instruments as interviews (semi-structured interviews, in-depth phenomenological interviews, focus groups), observations, and company documents. In multiple case studies, researchers use multiple data collection forms to acquire credible and reliable data to answer the study's research question (Yin, 2018). This study's face-to-face and video conferencing, semi-structured interviews entailed the use of open-ended questions and probes to explore the views of SBMs and owners of the SMM development and implementation strategies, successes, and challenges in improving consumer engagement. Face-to-face interviews help to maximize interviewer's contact with participants and enhance more thorough, in-depth interviews to be conducted (Palinkas et al., 2015). Interviewers can personally observe nonverbal cues and receive better quality responses. Researchers should use a reflective journal during data collection to maintain a record used all the data collection processes used (Larivière & Kandampully, 2019). I employed a reflective journal to record notes and nonverbal cues from the participants during interviews. Audio recordings were undertaken with the permission of the participants during semi-structured interviews for the purpose of transcription.

Open-ended questions were asked to elicit thorough responses and improved researchers' understanding (see Appendix A). The open-ended questions are beneficial

during an interview as they offer the researcher a better understanding of how a participant viewed a specific phenomenon (Roberts et al., 2019). To conduct reliable and valuable interview researchers should identify with the following (a) acquire IRB approval, (b) acquire the informed consent from each participant, (c) stay focused, (d) record the interview, (e) listen during the interview to ask follow-up questions when possible. Approval was obtained from Walden University's IRB (10-21-20-0738049) before contacting participants, acquire informed consent from each participant, using an audio recording device for accurate information during transcription of my findings, and asking probing follow-up questions to gain additional clarity during the interviews.

Amankwaa (2016) stated that researchers employ an interview protocol to enhance the interview process consistency and to increase data collection credibility. To conduct the semi-structured interviews, an interview protocol was carefully followed to safeguard a consistent and credible interview process (see Appendix D). Researchers use member checking to offer the participants the opportunity to validate the researcher's interpretation of their responses to the open-ended interview questions and any follow-up or probing questions (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Researchers use member checking to improve dependability and credibility and to reach data saturation (Yin, 2018). I transcribed the audio recordings from the interviews, explored the transcripts, generated a one-to-two-page summary of the participants' interview responses. A transcript of the interview findings was developed and shared with each participant for member checking to ensure accurate transcription of their intentions and to enhance interviews' data dependability. A follow-up 30-minute meeting with the participant was held as a

technique to ensure transcript review and to ask additionally for more clarification.

Lincoln and Guba (1985) stated that a follow-up interview is a technique used by qualitative researchers to guarantee the transcript of each participant is member-checked while probing for extra data. The transcript was revised based on the participants' review of the transcripts.

Data Collection Sources

Yin (2018) stated that the data collection approaches used in qualitative research included interviews that allowed the participants to offer information outside the interview questions. Vass et al. (2017) postulated that interviews are an ideal technique to collect data about a phenomenon from the participant's perspective. Qualitative study researchers seek rich, in-depth data from the participant's viewpoint; therefore, the main data collection techniques used by qualitative researchers are semistructured interviews and face-to-face interviews (Castillo-Montoya, 2016; Vass et al., 2017). I adhered to the same interview construct that entails semistructured and face-to-face or video conference interviews consisting of predetermined questions (see Appendix A) to gain a rich insight into the participants' SMM strategies.

Advantages of using interviews as a data collection technique include (a) spontaneous responses (b) noting of social cues such as body language, voice tones, and eye contact, and (c) a cost-effective approach that obtains participants responses (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Zhang et al., 2017). There are accurate transcripts of the participants' responses from the electronic recording of the interviews (Weil, 2017). In 2017, Weil also stated that the disadvantages of the process of face-to-face interviews

include (a) misinterpretation of social cues, (b) malfunctioning of the recording device, and (d) the ability for researchers to proactively listen and instantaneously record and interpret deep responses. I obtained the contact information for participants through public sources like LinkedIn and contacted each participant through email to introduce myself, state the reason for the study, and strive to build rapport.

When selecting an interview setting, researchers should choose settings that are comfortable for the participants when conducting interviews (Scheibe, et al., 2015). Participants chose a comfortable location for the interview to be conducted, of which I suggested a nearby public library, the participant's office, or video conferences such as Zoom, Skye, or Google meet. Researchers who follow a set construct for interviews can maintain rigor often and achieve a trustworthy interview process (Castillo-Montoya, 2016; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). An interview protocol was followed during the interviews to improve the research consistency and as a technical guide before, during, and after each interview (see Appendix D).

Some researchers carry out a small pilot study to test the instruments and techniques planned for a future bigger study (Lancaster, 2015). A pilot study is a way for researchers to test research protocols, authenticate self-designed questionnaires, and determine the reliability of data collection techniques in preparation for a future larger study (Drummond, 2017). In conducting a qualitative case study of limited scope and scale, I did not conduct a small pilot study because conducting a larger subsequent study was not necessary. Researchers give participants a chance to validate the researcher's transcript and evaluate their interview responses by engaging in member checking (Birt et

al., 2016). To ensure accurate transcription of the participants' responses to interview questions, each participant was engaged in member checking. I obtained validation, additional clarity, as well as new information from participants via member checking. Member checking is the process of sharing an interview transcript with participants to examine the accuracy, amend or expand the findings (Brear, 2018). All notes and any audio recording tracks are locked in a fireproof safe and password access protected computer, where the study files will be warehoused for five years from the official completion date of the study. The data will then be destroyed by shredding all printed material and deleting all electronic data permanently with the use of software like KillDisk to ensure all proper protection of participants' identities.

Data organization is critical to researchers as it eases the data analysis process (Yin, 2018). Roberts et al. (2019) suggested that researchers should organized data using a database for easy retrieval. Qualitative multiple case study researchers collect data from multiple sources (Baškarada, 2014). Researchers should employ computer software programs to organize different data from multiple sources (Chowdhury, 2015). In this study interview transcripts were organized with Microsoft Word and Microsoft Excel was used to create a data-tracking database. NVivo^{12.0} software program was used in this study to organize further the interview transcript and data collected from company documents as it coded and categorized the information needed for data analysis. Ethical researchers maintain the participants' confidentiality by averting the use of any personal identifiers of participants within the published research paper (Rowlands et al., 2015).

To ensure the participants' confidentiality, I created a file and used a unique code of P1, P2, P3, P4, P5, and P6, each assigned to 1 of the 6 participants within the published study. Each participant had an assigned file using a number rather than a name or other identifying information. Maintaining secure custody of all research records is the critical activity of ethical researchers (Rowlands et al., 2015). I secured hard copy files of the interview transcripts, notes, and audio or video recordings were stored in a secured container. After 5 years, all printed material will be shredded and electronically data deleted permanently to ensure appropriate disposal and participants' identities protection.

Data Analysis

Data analysis consisted of interconnectivity, organization, and description of the phenomena (Alase, 2017). In qualitative studies, data analysis is a set of processes that researchers undertake to understand the deeper meaning of raw data (Cassell & Bishop, 2019). Qualitative case study researchers conducting data analysis must rigorously and thoroughly analyze the processes employed to ensure the credibility and dependability of the findings (Roberts et al., 2019). Qualitative researchers maintain rigor while performing data analysis using an explanatory, content analysis process (Tuapawa, 2017). Content analysis was employed by analyzing the interview transcript's forms, and the member checking results by constant comparison, data reduction process, and thematic analysis brings out the primary and subthemes that emerge from the analysis of the interviews.

Thematic analysis is a qualitative research model used by researchers to transform raw data into common themes (Davidson et al., 2017). Assarroudi et al. (2018) stated that

thematic analysis is used to make sense of interview findings by coding open-ended questions and comparing the answers from the different respondents using the matrix. Thematic analysis was used to convert the data collected from the interview onto common themes by coding the questions and using a matrix to compare the data from each respondent. Researchers who employ thematic analysis obtain a profound insight, which helps understand the fundamental concepts and, subsequently, the broader aspects of the text (Vaismoradi, et al., 2016).

Methodological triangulation is another technique used to thoroughly analyze data and reach data saturation by which researchers interconnect data to confirm the dependability and validity (Roberts et al., 2019). Triangulation involves using different sources, theories, methods, and exploration to provide substantiating evidence of the interview findings and the study subject (Yin, 2018). During the data analysis process, I used the triangulation technique to systematically review the company's documentation data such as content marketing editorial calendar, customer buying journey map, and SMM customer journey survey, findings from interviews, analyzing each theme to improve credibility and dependability. There are five phases of the data analysis process, which include the compilation of the data disassembling, reassembling, interpretation, and conclusion of data (Yin, 2018). The following section is Yin's five-phase process, which was used to analyze data collected from semi-structured interviews to documentation review and conclusion.

Compiling Data

Cassell and Bishop (2019) designated that the intention of the compiling phase of data analysis is for the researcher to organize the raw data into a database. Zhang and Wildemuth (2016) stipulated that during the compilation phase, researchers must transform raw data into written text form. Yin (2018) stated that the compiling process begins with the gathering of data and sorting. The compilation phase of the data analysis started immediately after transcribing all interview recordings, involving participants in member checking, and appraising company documents.

My findings were reviewed, and results were triangulated against peer-reviewed literature and authoritative industry reports to establish reliability and validity. The findings were explored considering the DOI theory. Maher et al. (2018) stated that it is vital for researchers to establish reliability and validity before using NVivo software. During this phase, the data was compiled using Microsoft Word and Excel before using NVivo12.0 software in the disassembly phase.

Disassembling Data

In the disassembling phase, researchers divide the compiled data into smaller fragments by coding or assigning labels, and making notes (Yin, 2018). The data was organized in a logical order with the use of NVivo^{12.0} software. Next, I created notes to disassemble the data into small groups and begin the coding and labeling the notes. Researchers should disassemble data into manageable and logical groups (Tuapawa, 2017). Thirdly, themes or categories were generated based on the relationship and frequency of occurrence of codes and nodes. Therefore, data was grouped based on

relationships among codes, frequency of the codes, or fundamental concepts based on a combination of codes in the NVivo12.0 system. Cassell and Bishop (2019) stated that the generation of the core occurs in the process of grouping themes of data fragments and nodes. The next phase started with electronic thematic grouping as I reassembled the data fragments and nodes. Data were grouped based on relationships among codes, frequency of the codes, or fundamental concepts based on a combination of codes in the NVivo12.0 system. Cassell and Bishop (2019) stated that the generation of the core occurs in the process of grouping themes of data fragments and nodes. The next phase began with electronic thematic grouping as I reassembled the data fragments and nodes.

Reassembling Data

Reassembling is the thematic organization's phase, classification, and clustering of the disassembled data fragments into graphical groups, which may result in the creation of lists, tables, and graphs (Zhang & Wildemuth, 2016). NVivo12.0 system was used to thematically cluster the data fragments to begin the classification process that emerges themes and patterns. Kornbluh (2015) stated that the researcher could develop a deeper understanding of the research phenomenon by grouping data based on themes and patterns. Woods et al. (2016) suggested that during the assembling phase, the coding process should be logical and consistent for the data to be harmonious and avoid disorganized themes and patterns. I consistently rechecked the coding process and ensured accurate theme and pattern grouping to facilitate data interpretation.

Interpreting Data

The interpretation of data is the phase where researchers generate a narrative with the use of the themes and patterns created during reassembling (Tuapawa, 2017). Zhang and Wildemuth (2016) demanded that researchers should be objective by avoiding involving personal biases and reject the yearning to include preconceived ideas concerning the outcomes. During the interpretation of data, I used the assembled data to objectively generate narratives and avoided inserting any personal bias or preconceived notions by making sure that all emergent themes originate from the data. To further avoid being subjective and increase credibility, I also linked the themes to the study's conceptual framework, Roger's diffusion of innovation theory (Rogers, 2003). Dodds and Hess (2020) noted that by using data interpretation, researchers explore the patterns and groupings to determine the primary themes and subthemes that emerge. Therefore, the principal themes and subthemes which emerged from exploring data patterns and grouping, helped to answer the study's central research question before concluding the data.

Concluding Data

In this phase, researchers use the interpreted data to draw substantial conclusions, which brings out the in-depth meaning of the data. (Yin, 2018; Zhang & Wildemuth, 2016). The data analysis was concluded using the interpreted narratives to provide deep and meaningful conclusions of the emergent themes and subthemes. I explored the processes and procedures to truthfully and accurately arrive at conclusions to ensure that the findings are credible and dependable. In concluding data analysis, objectivity was

maintained while finalizing the interpretation of all the data collected during interviews and documentation review. Zhang and Wildemuth (2016) designated that the conclusions of qualitative research must originate from the collected data and not a subjective viewpoint of the study. I revisited previous phases, if necessary, to update data to ensure the data analysis conclusion is accurately completed as recommended by (Yin, 2018). During the five phases, methodological triangulation aided in reviewing and analyzing interview data with the use of data documentation. Van Dijk et al. (2016) showed that the use of methodological triangulation enhances credibility.

Software Plan

I used Microsoft Word and Excel to construct databases and organize data collected from participants' interview responses, member checking, and document reviews. Houghton et al. (2015) described NVivo as a computer-assisted, qualitative, data analysis software as an excellent data analysis tool used by qualitative researchers. NVivo is a trusted software program used by qualitative researchers to code data, identify themes and patterns, manage and interpret data (Marshall et al., 2018; Wilk et al., 2019). NVivo^{12.0} software was used during data analysis to fragment and gather data, add codes and labels, and analyze emergent themes and subthemes. The textual information was imported into NVivo^{12.0 to} analyze data after data collection from semi-structured interviews and the review of documents.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability and validity are two critical research elements to deliberate on during the process of designing, exploring, and judging the quality of the study (MacPhail et al., 2016). According to (Joslin & Muller, 2016) the validity and reliability of measurement instruments impact the degree to which a researcher may understand something about the study's phenomenon and the level to which the researcher can draw profound conclusions from the data. Quantitative researchers determine reliability and validity via the use of statistics (Noble & Smith, 2015). Similar criteria for qualitative studies seek credibility and dependability of data, confirmability, and transferability of their research findings (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Yin, 2018). These criteria are not measurable and need to be established using qualitative methods such as member checking, data saturation, thematic analysis, and triangulation (Denzin, 2010; Yin, 2018).

Reliability

Spiers et al. (2018) stated that the foundation of reliability in qualitative research is from the idea of data adequacy, which makes it possible to show consistent support for one's analysis across participants. Reliability is the repetitive and consistent measures used to conduct case study research (Yin, 2018). Consistency in data collection and analysis error-free enhances the research reliability (Lemon & Hayes, 2020). Reliability was established using the same manner to conduct each interview as I adhere to a predesigned interview protocol (Appendix B).

As researchers extract data from the primary sources, the researcher must also validate their accuracy in terms of form and context with constant comparison (Farquhar et al., 2020) either alone or in the form of triangulation. Researchers use member checking, methodological saturation, and triangulation by providing participants with the findings for a review to confirm data accuracy (Robins & Eisen, 2017). I improved

reliability by engaging participants in member checking, thematic analysis, and triangulation by ensuring a thorough data review from interviewees' responses and firms' documentations to systematically analyze each theme to rigor. To attain qualitative research reliability, commonalities must occur between the different findings of multiple research studies (Onwugbuzie & Byers, 2014). The same data sources, data collection sources, organization, and data analysis steps were applied to ensured reliability. Interview responses and notes, together with a complete review of existing academic studies, were used to establish consistency.

Validity

Validity is associated with data appropriateness, making it possible to provide an accurate account of participants' experiences within and beyond the immediate context (Spiers et al., 2018). To ensure validity, researchers can use the member checking to permit participant's consent of the transcribed interview findings and the data interpretation. Next to thematic analysis can be employed to establish appropriate insights into the fundamental data concepts and instinctively the text sentiments in larger volumes (Vaismoradi et al., 2016). Researchers can employ thematic models manually before using qualitative software for data analysis to process raw data into common themes (Davidson et al., 2017). I employed thematic analysis by first manually for common themes in the interview transcript and code according to the open-ended questions before using Nvivo software to create themes from the transcripts.

To advance with the establishment of validity, researchers provide triangulation using several data sources to authenticate the interview data (Kern, 2016). There are more

testimonials to authenticate the validity of interview data, including company documentation, field notes, behavioral and nonbehavioral, field notes (Kern, 2016). Researchers also use data saturation to ensure credibility (Birt et al., 2016). Data saturation occurs when additional data collection attempts do not produce new patterns, themes, or data (Tran et al., 2017). I ensured validity by employing member checking, thematic analysis, triangulation, and data saturation procedures. To establish validity in qualitative research, researchers should apply credibility, dependability, confirmability, transferability, and confirmability to the study (Cassell & Bishop, 2019; Spiers et al., 2018).

Credibility

Credibility is the confidence that the truth gives to the research findings (Kalu & Bwalya, 2017). Credibility is a detailed investigation that collects high-quality data (Cassell & Bishop, 2019). Credibility is used by researchers to ensure that the study results reflect the participants' opinions and hold (Colorafi & Evans, 2016). To ensure credibility, researchers should engage peers and obtain their comments. Member checking is a critical process that a qualitative researcher uses to improve data credibility (FitzPatrick, 2019). After transcribing the data collected from the interview and before producing the final document, I engaged each participant in member checking to validate the transcribed interview data and qualify the interpretation.

Researchers can use thematic analysis models to compare, analyze and code participants' responses to open-ended questions to establish credible fundamental data concepts and eventually obtain validity of the study's findings (Vaismoradi et al., 2016).

Thematic analysis was applied by coding the open-ended questions and applying matrices to compare the different types of participants' answers as recommended by (Davidson et al., 2017). Another strategy used by qualitative researchers to establish credibility is triangulation (Yin, 2018). Methodology or data type triangulation was employed to explore sources and theories to validate the evidence. The use of triangulation may help reduce bias, maintain clear and transparent data interpretations as it cross-examines the truthfulness of the participants' responses (Levitt et al., 2017; Yin, 2018). Therefore, to ensure credibility, I compared data collected from participants' interview responses with firm documents and reviews from member checking. Data collected from participants was my only focus and devoid of biases, personal opinions, and all data was kept confidential.

Confidentiality

Oetzel et al. (2015) asserted that it is the researcher's responsibility to ethically protect all participants' identifiable. At all stages of the research process, researchers can employ code names to increase the confidentiality of the participants identifiable within the study (Spillane, et al., 2017). To enforce ethical protection, confidentiality, and rights, all participants' identifiable information was kept confidential; participants' identities were codenamed as P1 to P6, for all records at all stages of the study. All related documents and material of participants should be secured for at least five years before destroying it, to ensure confidentiality (Griffith, 2014). From the study's official completion date, a fireproof safe was used to lock all audio recording devices, hard drive copies of documents, and field notes, and all electronic data, stored in a password-locked

computer for five years. After five years, all printed research documents will be shredded and permanently destroyed, while all electronic files will be deleted permanently with the use of software such as KillDisk.

Dependability

Dependability is crucial in qualitative research and clarity of results for readers to understanding (FitzPatrick, 2019). To ensure dependability, researchers should remain objective, mitigate biases, and prevent adding their worldview during data collection and interpretation (Birt et al., 2016). Gonçalves et al. (2019) used methodological triangulation by systematically comparing the cases, data, and literature. During data analysis, I ensured dependability by using methodological triangulation to compare interview findings against data collected from peer-reviewed literature and company reports, and credible industry documents such as company annual reports and SBA advocacy reports. Farquhar et al. (2020) noted that researchers employ methodological triangulation and member checking to improve the data's dependability. Therefore, peer analysis was applied by engaging participants in member checking to ensure a precise transcription of the participant's interview responses.

Transferability

Transferability is the extent to which other researchers can relate and validate the finding of a study, or it could connote how the finds apply to the contexts or settings of other studies (Kalu & Bwalya, 2017). Transferability relates to the degree to which research exploration outcomes can be transferred beyond the research boundaries (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). To ensure transferability, researchers offer a detailed

depiction of the data collection process, the study's population, and geographic boundaries for readers to apply the findings to their setting or context ((Fusch & Ness, 2015). To establish transferability, information about the population, participants, and geographic boundaries was provided alongside the methodological research method and design. Secondly, a thorough explanation of several data collection sources and procedures enabled the transferability of the study by readers to other settings. Finally, I offered enough evidence to readers that could make the research result applicable to different contexts, situations, times, and populations.

Confirmability

Confirmability is a constituent of validity that occurs during the process of record decision, sampling, data collection, keeping of data sources, data analysis, and conclusions (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). To endure confirmability, qualitative researchers should ask probing questions of participants, ensure the concentration of participants to interview questions and employ member checking (Natow, 2020). Confirmability was established by conducting semistructured interviews, asking probing questions to additionally clarifying interviews, and member checking. Yin (2018) stated that qualitative researchers could obtain confirmability by ensuring a clear, organized, and rational audit track during each research stage. Fusch and Ness (2015) added that researchers could attain data saturation to ensure the findings' confirmability. I retained the established audit track of the research process and reach data saturation, as data was collected continuously until no new themes or patterns emerged.

Data Saturation

Data saturation is reached during data collection to enhance the credibility and dependability of the collected data (Mohajan, 2017). Researchers achieve data saturation when additional data collection efforts do not result in new data, themes, or patterns (Tran et al., 2017). I continuously collected interview data until no new idea, model, or themes emerged. Researchers may acquire data saturation via probing participants during the interview responses, involving the participants in member checking, multiple data collection sources, and employing methodological triangulation (Natow, 2020). Researchers use member checking for participants to confirm or adjust the transcript of their responses to the interview questions (Yin, 2018). The process of methodological triangulation helps researchers cross-check interview data with collected data from supporting documents (Spiers et al., 2018). Data were collected from several documents to evaluate interview findings to employ methodological triangulation. Data saturation was reached by conducting semistructured interviews, probing participants for additional clarification during the interviews, involving the participants in member checking, and collecting data from several documents to evaluate interview findings to employ methodological triangulation.

Transition and Summary

In Section 2, I described my role in the research, participant selection, and rationalized the choice of the research method and design that shaped and guided this study. The explanation of ethical research, data collection instruments, organization, and analysis techniques assisted me to determine how SBMs implement SMM strategies to

improve consumers' engagement. Section 2 closed with a description of the processes to ensure credibility, confirmability, transferability, and dependability. Section 3 included research findings, application to professional practice, and recommendations of SMM strategies that SBMs might use the findings to improve consumers' engagement. Section 3 was concluded with the implications for social change and recommendations for further actions of the research study.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The objective of this qualitative exploratory multiple case study was to explore the strategies that SBMs use to develop and effectively implement SMM strategies to improve consumers' engagement. The specific study population consisted of six business managers of six successful small businesses in Maryland. I used Yin's five-phase process and NVivo 12 software underpinned with the DOI to analyze semi-structured interviews and documentation to identify three themes: (a) content design and engineering, (b) platforms selection and implementation, and (c) leadership engagement and tools.

Presentation of the Findings

The central research question for this study was:

RQ: What strategies do SBMs use to develop and effectively implement SMM to improve consumer engagement?

Eight semistructured interview questions and follow-up questions resulted in data saturation. Using Nvivo software, I identified various strategies using a thematic approach that I grouped under three major themes. Below are the themes and corresponding frequency from the interviews and company documents review.

Table 2Frequency of Themes

Themes	N	Incidence
Risk and liquidity	66	39%
Top-down approach	58	34%
Investment approach	46	27%

Theme 1: Content Design and Engineering

The consensus of participants stated that customers' behavior fluctuates in the buying process. Therefore, according to the participants, content marketing in social media needs to be informative, persuasive, and engaging. P5 and P6 said that there are two types of content: informative and persuasive. According to P5, persuasive content consists of facts and emotion. P6 noted that persuasive content influence by appealing to logos, pathos, and ethos. For example,

Celebrity endorsement is ethos, philanthropic content result in empathy, and we call it emotional influence through pathos, and logos is about influencing consumers through facts about products and services.

P5 said that the informative marketing content includes product description, deals, targeted message to segment, brand mention, and sponsorship. According to P5, in social media, informative and persuasive marketing content could result in customer engagement. P4 contended that the purpose of informative and persuasive marketing content is to improve customer engagement to connect to the brand.

Participants said that persuasive and informative marketing content comes in different forms, shapes, and sizes. Therefore, according to P1, marketers need a thorough review and consideration of content to improve its effectiveness. P1 stated the marketing content could be in the form of videos, live videos, company news, and market data. Additional marketing content could be photos, tips and tricks, events, polls, and surveys. Other marketing contents participants discussed includes behind the scenes, animations, interesting quotes, industry news, teaser, memes, and press release. According to

participants' messages within the content, timing and location will play a significant role in content effectiveness.

P3 said that the consumer engagement marketing content constitutes messaging strategies for customers to post and comment. P3 stated that the company's marketing content should allow customers to express an opinion. P3 leaders prompt customers to express opinions by probing their personalities through a poll and playing 'test your knowledge' games and asking a simple question. P4 posited that the marketing content needs to have functional appeal, experimental appeal, and emotional appeal. According to the participants, their SMM content varies throughout the product life cycle. For instance, various content constitutes humor, small talk, and price comparison. P3 said the marketing content in social media needs to be functional to grow sales, add value, engage customers, and extend brand name. When asked to expand customer engagement through content engineering, the P3 noted the content helps them get closer to customers through two-way dialogue.

P5 said, each social media platform has its own unique identity, so our content engineering needs to adaptive to the platform, meaning content needs to be friendly, trustworthy, and consistent.

All participants stated that the content needs to inspire and inform customers rather than just pushing customers.

P2 said, our approach is to shift from passive to the empowered customer through connectivity and customer choices.

When asked to define empowered customers, P2 said that customers now have constant access to smartphones. Consumers have more choices and control to access information. Therefore, the brand needs to earn customer loyalty by delivering values and understanding their needs.

Participants were unanimous in expressing that content varies depending on their marketing objectives. P3 company SMM utilizes the RACE concept in their marketing objectives. According to P3, the RACE stands for Reach, Act, Convert and Engage. The participant said that the RACE comprises the entire customer journey. The participant presented a customer journey map that provides a visual representation of buyers' journey. The map constitutes various touchpoints in buyers' journey and how the SMM interacts with buyers through social media. The mode of interaction as revealed in the document includes email, live chat, hangtags, and the use of other channels. P3 added, "We use paid media, owned media, earned media, other channels to reach customers." P3 said act means customers purchasing products using their social media, landing page, product page, and marketing automation. P3 concluded convert is about multiple selling, producing content, and converting indecisive customers to repeat customers. Finally, according to P3, engage converts lapsed customers to indecisive customers and ultimately turns into repeat customers.

Participants unanimously noted that the Covid-19 pandemic had affected their marketing approach as people's lifestyle has changed and customers are shopping more online than before. According to P4, the company brand adapted its content to Covid -19 while being sensitive to their customers. According to P6, During Covid-19, the company

leaders focus on retaining consumers through a positive brand image. When asked how leaders improve brand image, P6 said that customers are inclined towards authentic news and informative articles due to pandemics, so they do not add irrelevant ads, hard-selling, or bombard customers with advertisement. P6 stated that the social media platform needs to Sell, Serve, Speak, Save, and Sizzle. According to P6, selling refers to a distribution channel, which means adding value, speaking relates to communication to get closer to the customers, saving relates to the cost, and sizzle is about the value proposition. P6 stated that to learn about the customers' journey, the SMM routinely does surveys. P6 presented a document relating to the customer journey survey. The survey template had ten questionnaires to grasp customer experience in buying journey.

All customers supported the notion of engagement through word-of-mouth branding. The participating company leaders develop a conversation unit with their marketing message that their customers feel circulating in the social media. P3 posited that they have better success in selling products if their customers circulate their message. P4 noted that consumers consider what their friends and people in their network say about the company and its products. So, all participants use social media platforms to deliver a positive message because engaging customers through social media brings customers closer to the brand. Participants said through customer engagement, and the positives stories reached people outside of the customer base. P3 presented a document relating to social media engagement benchmarks across industries. The report revealed that the company has total engagement per post, indicating that the company's marketing leaders are catching up with industry standards when engaging customers in social media.

Participants stated that free giveaway attracts more customers. P5 said that from a marketing content perspective regarding the company's social media platform, the SBM provides voucher codes, restaurant offers, and regular deals in exchange for customers to tell their stories to funnel down to a larger audience. P5 handed a copy of vouchers and deals they provided to customers. The coupons and deals were suitable to their targeted demographic.

According to P1, The marketing content is important cause if we focus on our products or service, then we are talking in a language that would not resonate with our social media community.

P1 added, "But if we talk about the specific needs of our community and provide solutions or offer deals for them to save money, then it will resonate with people." P1 added that they see social media as a communication vehicle.

P2 said that their secret for business success is defining their segment and the quality of marketing content they put in front of their segment. P2 said, "Many marketers define segment by the boundary. What if the customer just outside at the edge of the boundary, then marketers contemplate should they bring those people into their segment? If they do, and soon the boundary will expand, affecting process integrity.

Therefore, P2 company SMM does not define segment by the boundary but by the center point. They call this idea the poster child concept. Their poster child is an ideal representation of their segment. In other words, the poster child is their persona of targeted customers. Then the company SBM channels all communication with appropriate marketing content to that poster child because it resonates with all people in

their segment. The accord of participants said that the marketing team focuses on facts rather than opinions when it comes to content. Participants cautioned about posting the content on social media sites. P1 said, "We are careful with our content nature. We do not want our ads besides breaking news about a mass shooting or any other inappropriate content.

Connecting Theme 1 to the Literature

Theme 1 is about content engineering. Participants stated informative and persuasive marketing content type to foster customer engagement in social medial. Moreover, the participant indicated that customers' journey constitutes many touchpoints, and for each touchpoint, the marketing content type needs to have emotional appeal for customer engagement. Kraus et al. (2019) stated appropriate styles of marketing content communication that are vibrant, entertaining, and trustworthy. Hahn et al. also (2016) noted emotional content could result in customer engagement leading to robust brand relationships. The participant stated posting informative and persuasive marketing content in the schedule and provide helpful links and giveaways to engage customers, so they become brand advocates and recommend products through eWOM. Shrestha et al. (2019) noted that social media users prefer helpful links to aid them with their buying decisions. Fernandes and Moreira (2019) recommended developing marketing content regularly and timely, including giveaways to engage customers. Participant identified segment through poster boy concept, which resonates with all targeted customers. Haikel-Elsabeh et al. (2019) supported developing marketing content that enables eWOM from customers, potentially reaching target audiences within the segment.

Connecting Theme 1 to the Conceptual Framework

The key construct of innovation is to harness creativity to foster desire outcomes (Cooper et al., 2016). In theme 1, participants discussed various marketing content types to improve customer engagement. The preposition in DOI was congruent with the adapting processes to foster innovative ideas and improve communication (Rogers & Kincaid, 1981). The DOI concept congruent Theme 1 because the SBM approach to marketing content identification and development requires an innovative approach for idea generation and communication across the team.

Theme 2: Platforms Selection and Implementation

Participants were fully in agreement that the social media design process starts with the business and customers' environment. According to P3, the design objective for customer engagement is to build customer preferences, retain customers, improve brand, and increase sales. All participants noted that digital marketing constitutes series of touchpoints encompassing activities in which consumers can engage. P2 added that touchpoints in the buying process show interest, explore the products, review products, make a purchase, and recommend products. The harmony of participant said that SBM design marketing contents that enable consumers to engage in activities at each touchpoint. P2 presented a content marketing editorial calendar, which revealed how the company marketer connects with the customers. The calendar constitutes timing for social posts, advertisements, and customer surveys.

P6 said, during marketing content design, we link outside articles to provide valuable information to customers. Curating and adding outside links in SMM content could build trust and reliability.

P5 company marketing people have a generalized additive model to determine what to post, the time, and the type of customers to address. Their customers respond based on the marketing content and type. In unison participants said they have transitioned from web 1.0, in which businesses use a set of static websites to reach customers.

P1 said, now the integration of web 2.0 is the second-generation platform we can collaborate, share, and interact with customers.

According to participants, web 2.0 uses social media platforms like Facebook, twitters, and YouTube. P4 posited that web 2.0 platforms could enable marketers to engage with customers.

All participants contended that they have a technology-enabled business model that foster network effects in various social media platform. Participants posited that their digital platform focuses on the community to build trust, and according to P6, trust results in connectivity, leading to engagement. The harmony of participants stated that they use Facebook fan pages to create an impression leading to engagement. According to P1, Facebook page design considerations include a thorough understanding of what they are hoping to achieve, target audience, and their uses of social media platforms and messaging. Participants were of like-mindedness as they said that the SBM pays attention to layout for visual appeal in designing Facebook fan pages. While advertising

on Facebook, marketers target audiences based on location, gender, habits, workplace, and education. All participants stated purchasing Page Post Ads on Facebook, which appear directly in users' new feed. The consensus of participants said they like the Facebook post because it has rich content attributes, whereas Twitter is limited.

According to P5, Facebook includes real names and, therefore, more reliable than most social media sites. Moreover, P5 added that Facebook is suitable to measure engagement daily through Likes and Comments.

Besides Facebook, participants noted using Google +, Pinterest, Tweeters, YouTube, Reddit, and Instagram. P2 said they use Google + circles to segment their followers into groups, sharing relevant information with people within the group, barring others. P1 noted that the marketing content through Google + includes links and promotions besides photos of products. P1 cautioned marketers that while using paid advertising in Google + to pay attention to an aggregate of users who take advantage of Google service.

According to P1, Google describes active users across all their lines, including YouTube, so Google + social network includes far less reach. It is important in design considering.

P6 said that when developing Pinterest marketing strategies, the marketing people focus on their primary audience, which is females. Therefore, the brand personality they exhibit on Pinterest is eye-catching and constitutes unique pinboards. P5 stated that their Pinterest fans are loyal to the platform and suggested Pinterest advertisements for small businesses. All participating companies' leaders use Twitter to tweet special discounts,

fun news, and brand-building tweets. Participants were in harmony in conveying that they respond when customers have some nice things to say, and for negative tweets, they respond, seeking feedback and commitment to improving. Participants noted that social media revolves around two-way dialogues to build relationships and trust. P4 stated that their tweeter ads appear in users' timelines and include hashtags and links. P4 marketing people use promoted accounts and promoted trends to reach a broad audience to engage in conversation. Participants were united in stating that marketing leaders use Twitter to target existing and current followers, tailored audiences, and consumer interest.

P2, P4, and P6 stated the use of LinkedIn to receive customers' recommendations. According to participants, the marketing people review the LinkedIn profile and groups of like-minded people and reach out to them with professional dialogues to convey their message. Participants use sponsored Updates and LinkedIn Display ads to strengthen the professional social network. Participating company leaders reach to target audience classified by job title and function, industry, and geography.

According to P1, "Many business leaders create YouTube videos thinking it will go viral, which is less likely. However, in our case, we focus on creating useful how-to videos." P1 noted that compelling how-to videos could improve the rank in google search, so our marketing people pay attention to design and content in the videos. P3 and P5 use Redditt to share relevant information. However, P5 said, in the past tech-savvy community berated the company the content was high sales-focused. Therefore, P5 advised paying attention to marketing content while using Redditt. In accord participants said that through Instagram marketing, people could reach a large audience.

However, P2 said, Instagram has some drawback, one being the platform is based on a CPM advertising model, meaning advertisers charge for impressions their ad receives.

Therefore, small business owners who consider using Instagram to promote business should know the cost involved, said P2.

Participants unanimously stated the practical social media activities should combine new and old information to build a connection between individuals. According to P4, when design focuses on engagement perspective, then messaging shift from transactional to interactional in which the brand becomes part of customers' identity.

P4 Posited, "Marketing content design and engineering are not about focusing on big tools, systems, large scale algorithms development, it is about a small-scale decision, overcoming organizational issues and content reengineering.

Participants were in agreement that the core of marketing starts with selecting the social media sites and then designing marketing content tailored to the particular sites. According to P4 and P5, a marketing plan constitutes mapping out a path with specific goals. Participants said they integrate business intelligence tools to curate content and launch marketing campaigns. In concurrence participants stated using hangtags in social media. The participant presented a document that outlines best practices in using hashtags. The document revealed strategic A/B testing and using a tool like RiteTag, and Hashtag description and length. The documents also included numbers of hashtags to use in a given post. For example, for Facebook, 1-2 hashtags, Instagram could use up to 30

hashtags. According to the participants, the correct number of hashtags used in a given post could maximize reach and engagement.

When asked if the participating companies have their social media sites on their websites, Participants said engagement is all about customer interactions and reach with people who have access to the post.

P1 stated, Imagine Face decided to delete your page for whatever reasons, and then you have an online presence. Therefore, we do not put all eggs in one basket. We build our website which serves the purpose similar to other social media sites.

Connecting Theme 2 to the Literature

Participants recommended using the various platform for maximum engagement and reach. According to Kujur and Singh (2020), various social networking sites (SNS) enable firms to present their social media presence and engage potential customers to establish a friendly customer-brand relationship. Participants noted marketing content for social media varies, and therefore content design consideration is essential for each touchpoint. Participants recommended business intelligence tools for marketing content creation, design, and implementation. Lepkowska-White et al. (2019) supported the notion that content type, intensity, variety, and frequency differ among social media platforms and suggested appropriate content design and integration influence customer perceptions of brand equity and engagement. The participants said that hashtag is applicable in various social media platforms and recommended protocols for maximizing hashtag use from a design and implementation perspective. Shrestha et al. (2019) noted hashtag campaigns to spread innovation, create awareness, and generate high traffic in

social media. From a design perspective, participating company leaders focused on developing social media engagement opportunities through links, hashtags, platforms, and content materials. Gong (2018) supported the notion that engagement opportunities should connect the brand story with customers throughout the day.

Connecting Theme 2 to the Conceptual Framework

The tenets of DOI highlight the process to penetrate new technology, products, and services via innovative means and social influences (Cirus & Simonova, 2020).

Theme 2 is platform selection and content implementation, which require SBM to remain creative to explore the best suitable social media platforms and design content to maximize the reach and engagement. The DOI concept is ideal for an innovative approach in social media platforms selection and designing appropriate marketing content about selected platforms. Such activities require creativity and communication, which are key constructs of DOI.

Theme 3: Leadership Engagement and Tools

Participants harmoniously stated that they measure the triumph and failure of social media techniques.

P2 said, we add tracking to social media activity to monitor them to understand what marketing content is resonating well with our targeted audiences.

P2 said consumers go through cross-channel engagement in their journey to purchase products. P2 added, that journey constitutes various touchpoints where consumers use mobile phones, laptops and talk to their friends to learn about the

products. It is all part of one journey, and marketing people have to look at this journey in totality and get people to work together to influence consumers at each touchpoint.

Participants were unanimous in expressing that the management team needs to recalibrate their mindset to ensure the functional design and implementation of social media activities.

P4 said, The leaders need to pay attention to what their people are doing, meaning researching how consumers are using social media as it pertains to business.

P4 added that leaders then decide what product to push at what times, learning about consumers' interests and observing their social media behaviors. P4 said that teams need to work in cross-functional mode to solve problems in a more integrated manner, for which leadership needs to set expectations.

Participants unanimously indicated that organizational impediment is fostering organizational level engagement by bringing people together. P1 said that the marketing department teams work in small-scale pilot projects constituting small geographic locations, specific customer segments, and narrow product lines. In this process, the marketing team learns how to improve things, understand challenges, and familiar with the process. with that kind of understanding, the P1 marketing team builds muscle to go into large-scale marketing.

In consensus participants stated reputation risk associated with a social media platform. Participants harmoniously supported that risk with social media platforms needs proper management, as dissatisfied customers could hamper company image and brands. P4 noted that staff at each organizational level needs to focus on serving

customers and their company leaders empower employees to make the right decisions to respond to dissatisfied customers. P1 presented the printout of some negative comments from customers and company leaders' responses. The document revealed addressing the customer by names, acknowledgment and apology, explanation, and opportunity to discuss the matter offline. P1 also presented a document relating to positive responses. However, the document revealed unlike the negative response to a negative review, leaders randomly selected the responses to a positive review.

When asked, P1 said, It is polite things to do as everyone is looking, and also it helps our SEO ranking. But to make it short and simple and we limit our responses to positive reviews.

P6 said that the SBM had developed customer advocacy sites to maintain a twoway conversation with customers. P6 company use company blogs and discussion boards people could use to share information.

P6 said, We design marketing content for blogs and discussion based on consumers' behaviors, attitudes, and expectations.

Then P6 marketing team channels content to empower customers. Therefore, P3 said their SBM is willing to experiment to learn about customers' device uses, information savviness, and self-efficacy when it comes to design. Based on data, we proceed with digital integration to sustain a relationship with customers. All participants said having data on historical behaviors of their consumers, familiar with customer's expectations, emotional motivations, and learned how their customers make contextual decisions.

According to all participants, the success of social media requires collaboration across the marketing team in managing different touchpoints with customers. P4 said, managing touchpoints requires technology and business intelligence tools to track customers' behaviors in real-time. P4 posited that the marketing staff at each level needs to have a thorough understanding of technological tools available to serve customers.

P3 said, The bottom line is making customers' shopping journey a pleasant experience because the customers can vote with their wallet.

Participants unanimously expressed that the marketing content for social media depends on customers' type. P1 participants categorized their customers into four types: *Pioneers, savvy, connivance, settled, and reserved.* The *pioneers* use multiple mobile devices and innovative technologies such as Near field communication (NFC) and Mobile Image Recognition (MIR) in their purchasing decisions. According to P1, these technologies enable customers to try a product before they make purchase decisions virtually. *Savvy* consumers, according to P1, exhibits app-supported shopping behaviors, whereas *connivance* consumers use their desktop or laptop computers as an alternative to traditional shopping behaviors. P1 noted that *settled* customers limit their use of technologies and often visit local retailers to purchase. Finally, according to P1, reserved use online platforms to search retailers and purchase through other channels.

P5 said that there are three stages of buying journey: *Awareness, consideration, decision* stages. According to P5, during the *awareness* stage, customers are experiencing problems and look for solutions. In the *consideration* stage, customers are looking for methods to resolve the issue. And in the *decision* stage, according to P5, customers make

their choice to solve the problem. P5 said that once the marketing team identifies the buyers' journey, they implement strategies to deliver a pleasant shopping experience.

P5 presented a guide the company leaders use for social media analytics. The *Sprout* trend reports that P5 presented detailed everything one needs to know about hashtags' effectiveness for engagement. The report showed the frequency in which company customers used hangtags, revealing the intensity of engagement. P5 stated data-driven targeting, such as targeting based on gender, age, and income. Participants with one accord mentioned contextual targeting. According to participants in contextual targeting, the marketing team examines the page customers' content and then adds supporting ads to gain their interest.

For example, P2 said, One can advertise vitamins or supplements on a fitness website.

P3 and P4 discussed channel to target and geolocation targeting. According to P4, in channel targeting, SBM provides ads to targeted channels, for example, health channels, travel channels, and so forth. P4 said geolocation targeting is reaching a consumer at a specific location.

In complete agreement participants stated targeting based on customers' behaviors. P6 said, "We identify actual browsing behaviors based on click made, product view, and site interaction through tracking cookies.

P6 noted that when customers visit our sites, we have disclosures about tracking cookies, so customers are aware.

P6 continued stating that tracking cookies help them understand the behavior of both identified and unidentified users. P1 said using predictive modeling based on behavioral data to predict future customers' behaviors. According to P1, predictive modeling is an intelligent way to connect with people. When asked to expand upon the predictive modeling P1, they use programmatic marketing platforms like *Acuity* ads, which help them identify online customers based on interest, devices use, and time of the day. P1 posited that *Acuity* uses real-time first- and third-party data to identify audience and campaign.

P1 added, Acuity ads are highly personalized based customers behaviors and interests that help us with intelligent connections, generate insights, and optimize performance.

The participates said they work through challenges conducting rapid cycle tests, and, in the process, they learn as they test things constantly. P2 noted that the right technology is the backbone in social media design to ensure that we can move data through various channels. The team ensures that we have the correct data, analyze data, design models, and manage content. All participants said that the data is essential as data helps them guide their decisions.

According to P6, We don't have product strategy; what we have is customer experience strategy. Therefore, we need data on our customers so that we could drive value.

The consensus of participants noted finding the right people to do the job. P2 noted that the company leaders hire a freelancer to generate content and post on their

social media site. When asked to expand upon hiring outside help, P2 said they use the Fiver platform to identify Freelancers experts in content generation and marketing savvy. The freelancer routinely updates content on the company's social media sites. P2 said the company leaders provide the content, photos, videos, link to articles to the freelancer, who then use the information they provide to update content 2 to 3 times a week on their social media platform.

Participants stated using social media analytic to understand their social media performance, which reflects customer engagement. P1 and P2 stated using *Snaplytics* for brand analytics, publishing, and managing content in Snapchat. P1 and P3 marketing teams use *Adobe Spark* to create graphics, animated videos, and wen stories for content design. Participants in concord supported the notion that in social media, posting timing is essential. P5 said that they use *YaLa* to post multiple social networks. According to P5, "We need to know how our SMM content is doing, so we use *PostReach* to analyze the contents from the moment it gets published.

P6 mentioned using *Quuu* for hand-curated content suggestions.

According to P6, *Quuu* enables marketers to select from over many interest categories for content suggestions.

P6 added, We also analyze our customers' experience using *Falcon.io*, which is a social media and customer experience management platform.

Also, P6 stated using the Intellifluence platform, and we find the best influencers to represent their company brand. However, P6 cautioned that social media engagement

does not require adding technologies but rather managing activities to utilize data to improve customer interactivity.

Connecting Theme 3 to the Literature

All participants supported leadership involvement to engage the customer for a better customer journey experience throughout all touchpoints. In this era of a globalized market, small business leaders need to deploy SMM strategies to exploit possible benefits and assess the social media tools and strategies most beneficial to remain sustainable (Bouranta et al., 2019). According to all participants, the success of social media requires collaboration across the marketing team in managing different touchpoints with customers. Social media engagement results from cooperation on projects and networking personally and professionally (Perčić & Perić, 2021). Business communication and collaboration among teams increase business performance (Sajid, 2016). Participants stated using social media analytic to understand their social media performance and related software to manage social media activities to improve customer engagement. Bouranta et al. (2019). suggested using social media analytics to formulate and measure social media success across various business functions. In agreement participants stated reputation risk associated with a social media platform. Moncey and Baskaran (2020) noted that a negative customer voice could affect a firm reputation and deter users from engaging and becoming brand advocates.

Connecting Theme 3 to Conceptual Framework

Theme 3 constituted leaders' engagement to mobilize teams to improve customers' journey in purchasing cycle. Theme 3 includes the use of business intelligence tools to

enhance customer reach and engagement. Rogers (2003) noted that a helpful concept for understanding DOI is adoption decisions. Therefore, DOI constructs support SBM's practices, such as adopting innovative technological tools and adopting a relationship management approach for team management, which could minimize reputation risk in social media and involve the team in delivering superior shopping experiences to customers. Roger's DOI concept could increase the understanding of why adoption of innovative SMM strategy is essential to improve consumers' engagement for business sustainability.

Applications to Professional Practice

Small business leaders started to recognize the benefits of social media. However, they encounter challenges to exploit opportunities effectively presented by social media (Fink et al., 2018). The challenges SBM experience includes designing the marketing content, using the social media platform, and utilizing business intelligence tools to maximize ROI in social media. Scholars recommended the adoption of social media engagement (Cawsey & Rowley, 2016). However, limited research has been done specifically on the interface between SMM and business-consumer or consumer-to-business relationship settings in social media.

The study findings could fill the gap in the literature through identified strategies to engage customers in social media. The study resulted in three themes: Content engineering, platform selection, and implementation, and leadership and tectological tools. The identified strategies have an application to business practices. Theme 1 consists of content engineering focusing on content types, which are informative and

persuasive. Consumer engagement is the psychological state of consumers, and through informative and persuasive content, SBM could provide a feeling of being an essential part of the firm (Moreno-Munoz et al., 2016).

Moreover, informative and persuasive content could result in customers advocating company brand, image, and product through WOM. Positive WOM increased brand trust, brand commitment, and quality of consumer-brand-relationship (Akrout & Nagy, 2018). In theme 1, participants noted that multichannel communication uses persuasive and information marketing content throughout various customer journeys. Gill et al. (2017) stated providing the correct information for each type of touchpoint giving customers an enjoyable positive experience along their customer journey. Content engineering affects consumers' behaviors leading to motivation to engage and attach to the brand (Abusamhadana et al., 2019).

In theme 2, participants discussed various social media platforms and their usefulness. The benefits of social media platform are that it enables SBM to reach audiences internationally with less effort, time, and money (Basri, 2016). Participants suggested using Facebook, Instagram, Twitter, YouTube, Google +, and Pinterest. The increasing use of social networking sites (SNS) has led to firms creating their social media presence and pursuing the engagement of potential customers to establish a friendly customer-brand relationship (Kujur & Singh, 2020). Social media platforms enable consumers engagement by giving them a voice via clicks of like, dislike or comments. The marketing content on social media platforms should provide consumers with a memorable shopping experience. The participant supported using links and

hashtags. Customers clicking on advertisement links and hashtags increase awareness and traffic to the sites (Fang et al., 2015).

In theme 2, participants supported routinely updating the marketing content with giveaways and deals. The benefits to business by giving away prizes, tags in a timely schedule include employee engagement and attraction to the brand (Fernandes & Moreira, 2019). In theme 2, the participant noted adopting marketing content suitable to the platform. Effective marketing content with good communication in social media platforms ensures awareness in customers leading to high traffic (Kraus et al., 2019). In theme 1, the participant noted engineering content tailored to the "poster child" concept. In Theme 2, Participants recommended selecting a platform that matches their target audience. Developing targeted marketing content and the use of suitable social media platforms to develop accessibility and connectivity with customers could influence consumer perceptions of brand equity (Lepkowska-White et al., 2019). Taking advantage of existing social media platforms could increase revenue and help to remain competitive (Felix et al., 2017).

Theme 3 is about the leader's roles in social media activities and business intelligence software to maximize reach and customer engagement. The use of technology in SMM could increase a firm's competitive advantage (Nawafleh, 2015). Technological tools help business leaders understand their customers (Parsons & Lepkowska-White, 2018) and generate high traffic on social media sites (Shrestha et al., 2019). Moreover, SBM could use analytic tools to reduce marketing costs. In theme 3, participants noted managing risk in social media to safeguard company image. A

negative customer voice could affect a firm's reputation (Moncey & Baskaran, 2020). Leaders play a significant role in bringing the team together, improving buyers' journeys and decision-making capabilities as the team engages in two-way communication with customers on social media. Leaders' role in SMM content generation, risk management, and post-sales service improves customer satisfaction, leading to more engagement and brand loyalty.

Implications for Social Change

The study findings constitute marketing strategies for small business leaders to improve consumer engagement. The marketing strategies include content engineering, utilizing social media platforms, and the leader's involvement and technological tools. The favorable implication of effective marketing strategies includes SMM able to reach consumers and engage with appropriate content, resulting in sales. Successful businesses are likely to grow by providing employment opportunities to people in the local communities. Shibia and Barako (2017) stated new job creations could eliminate poverty and improve living standards.

Small businesses consist of 99.7% of organizations with paid employees and 40.8% of private-sector payroll (SBA, 2018a). Business growth and employment result in tax revenues for local government. The local government could improve local schools, senior housings, and parks and recreation facilities benefiting people. Moreover, successful business is likely to fulfill corporate social responsibilities by philharmonic contribution to charities of choice such as cancer research and environmental protection.

Recommendations for Action

In 2015, small businesses in the U.S. have employed 58.9 million people, created 1.9 million net jobs, and represented 47.5% of the private workforce (SBA, 2018a). In that same year, Maryland small businesses employed 1.1 million people, representing 50.2% of the private workforce (SBA, 2018b). Based on this record, small businesses are a significant contributor to the U.S economy, and its success is imperative for the country's GDP.

The strategies that participants identified have positive ramifications, which is improving marketing, leading to consumer engagement. Discussing all social media-related marketing activities is beyond the scope of this research. However, the strategies identified in this study have universal applicability. Therefore, business leaders of all industry types could use the identified strategies to reach customers, engage them, and assist in their buying decisions. The identified strategies enable consumers to experience a pleasant journey in the buying process, improving company image, brand loyalty, and reaching a wider audience.

Besides business leaders, academic scholars, consultants, and government officials could find the study finding helpful. Consider the larger scope of SMM strategies, and academic scholars could conduct additional research to fill the gap in the literature. Consultants could additional insights on SMM strategies enabling them to serve their customers better. Finally, government officials could improve policies when they have a better understanding of the social media landscape. Therefore, to reach a

wider audience, I plan to disseminate the findings through ProQuest publications, journal articles, seminars, and conferences.

Recommendations for Further Research

Several limitations were anticipated before collecting data. The limitations were the effectiveness of open-ended questions, unable to probe with follow-up questions and transferability of study findings. The open-ended questions resulted in a conversational-type dialogue with full cooperation from the participants. Participants were immersed in discussions and welcomed probing questions, which resulted in data saturation. I conducted the study in multiple case study settings, which enable me to understand the phenomenon from a broader lens. However, considering the scope of SMM, future researchers could conduct further studies by blending both qualitative and quantitative approaches to obtain rich data and improve study credibility. Moreover, a phenomenological design could enable a researcher to increase the sample size to get a broader perspective on the phenomenon and generalize findings to a larger audience.

Reflections

The doctoral study was challenging and yet rewarding. Throughout the journey, I learned few life lessons. One lesson is that when in a mission to accomplish something significant, one must have discipline. In my case, the discipline included time management and following routines. From a professional perspective, the study finding expanded personal knowledge in SMM and improved my writings and analytical skills. Considering the time and volume of work involved, I find choosing the research topic of interest is essential to avoid boredom.

In some instances, I found the doctoral process overwhelming, and I found difficulties in motivating myself. However, my eyes are always on the grand prize, obtaining a terminal degree and belonging to an elite group of academic scholars. Focusing on the result and my discipline kept me moving.

Conclusion

The study includes interviewing six participants grounded with DOI. The study resulted in three themes. This study's findings add to the knowledge of small businesses' processes to develop and implement SMM. The increased understanding could also equip SBMs and owners with strategies for implementing SMM and maintaining an increasingly effective online presence. Theme 1 is about content engineering. Participants stated informative and persuasive content type to foster customer engagement in products via SMM. Participants stated they use messages with philanthropic content that may induce empathy as a persuasion as it appeals to the emotions of consumers to adopt a product via the social media platforms used for advertising. The participates also stated the use of informative and persuasive content such as messages via logos which carry unusual information that may influence consumers to engage in a product or creating awareness for consumers to adopt the product as a form of appealing for logic. Researchers frequently categorize content that attempt to persuade and promote relationship building in this manner as persuasive content. Moreover, the participant indicated that customers' journey constitutes many touchpoints, and for each touchpoint, the contents type needs to have emotional appeal for customer engagement. Theme 2 highlighted on the various platforms and content implementation strategies for maximum

engagement and reach. Theme 3 is about leadership involvement and using technological tools to engage the customer for a better customer journey experience throughout all touchpoints. The failure rate is high for small businesses within the first 5 years of operation (U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2021). Identified SMM strategies could help business leaders to increase brand recognition, customer retention, and engagement and prevent businesses from failing.

References

- Abusamhadana, G. A. O., Elias, N. F., Mukhtar, M., & Asma' Mokhtar, U. (2019). Items for measuring user engagement success in information systems development.

 2019 International Conference on Electrical Engineering and Informatics (ICEEI), Bandung, Indonesia, 596–601.

 https://doi.org/10.1109/ICEEI47359.2019.8988816
- Ahmad, N. S., Musa, R., & Harris, M. (2016). The impact of social media content marketing (SMCM) towards brand health. Fifth International Conference on Marketing and Retailing (5th INCOMaR) 2015. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 37, 331-336. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2212-5671(16)30133-2
- Akrout, H., & Nagy, G. (2018, December). Trust and commitment within a virtual brand community: The mediating role of brand relationship quality. *Information and Management*, 55, 939–955. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2018.04.009
- Aktin, K. (2019, July). Historical imagination skills of preschool children as reflected in their clay works. *International Online Journal of Educational Sciences*, 11, 87–104. https://doi.org/10.15345/iojes.2019.03.007
- Alase, A. (2017). The interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA): A guide to a good qualitative research approach. *International Journal of Education and Literacy Studies*, 5(2). https://doi.org/10.7575/aiac.ijels.v.5n.2p.9
- Algharabat, R., Rana, N. P., Alalwan, A. A., Baabdullah, A., & Gupta, A. (2020).

 Investigating the antecedents of customer brand engagement and consumer-based

- brand equity in social media. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 53(n/a). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2019.01.016
- Allen, M. (2019). Social media marketing of qualitative research: Blurring commerce and community. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 25, 591-598.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800418806594
- Alvesson, M., & Sköldberg, K. (2017). *Reflexive methodology: New vistas for qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Amankwaa, L. (2016). Creating protocols for trustworthiness in qualitative research.

 *Journal of Cultural Diversity, 23, 121-127. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/journals/j-cult-drivers/
- Andrews, M., Goehring, J., Hui, S., Pancras, J., & Thornswood, L. (2016). Mobile promotions: A framework and research priorities. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, *34*, 15-24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intmar.2016.03.004
- Arora, A. S., & Sanni, S. A. (2019). Then years of 'social media marketing' research in the journal of promotion management: Research, synthesis, emerging themes, and new directions. *Journal of Promotion Management*, 25, 476-499.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10496491.2018.1448322
- Assarroudi, A., Nabavi, F. H., Armat, M. R., Ebadi, A., & Vaismoradi, M. (2018). 112

 Directed qualitative content analysis: The description and elaboration of its underpinning methods and data analysis process. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 23(1), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987117741667

- Audemard, J. (2020, January). Objectifying contextual effects. The use of snowball sampling in political sociology. *Bulletin de Methodologie Sociologique*, *145*, 30-60. https://doi.org/10.1177/0759106319888703
- Badrul Hisham, M. I., Bogal, N., Royali, S. A., Aida Harun, N., & Tamrin, M. (2020).

 Factors influencing consumers' electronic word-of-mouth (eWOM) intention among generation Y (Gen Y) towards travel destination. 2020 International

 Conference on Data Analytics for Business and Industry: Way Towards a

 Sustainable Economy (ICDABI), Data Analytics for Business and Industry: Way

 Towards a Sustainable Economy (ICDABI), 2020 International Conference On,

 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICDABI51230.2020.9325706
- Bailey, M. (2019, May). Snowball sampling in business oral history: Accessing and analyzing professional networks in the Australian property industry. *Enterprise & Society*, 20, 74-88. https://doi.org/10.1017/eso.2018.110
- Bakri, A. A. (2017). The impact of social media adoption on competitive advantage in the small and medium enterprises. *International Journal of Business Innovation* and Research, 13, 255–269. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJBIR.2017.083542
- Baškarada, S. (2014). Qualitative case studies guidelines. *Qualitative Report, 19*, 1-25. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Basri, W. (2016). Social Media Impact on Small and Medium Enterprise: Case Review of Businesses in the Arab World. *Arts and Social Sciences Journal*, 7, 1-5. https://doi.org/10.4172/2151-6200.1000236

- Bass, F. M. (1969). A new product growth for model consumer durables. *Management Science*, 15(5). https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.15.5.215
- Battaglia, D., Neirotti, P., & Paolucci, E. (2018, September 10). The role of R&D investments and export on SMEs growth: *A domain ambidexterity perspective*.

 Management Decision, 55, 1883-1903. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-02-2017-0136
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1802-1811. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Blank, S. (2020). The four steps to the epiphany: Successful strategies for products that win. John Wiley & Sons
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. Qualitative Market Research:

 An International Journal, 19, 426–432.

 https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1108/QMR-06-2016-0053
- Bond, S. D., He, S. X., & Wen, W. (2019, January 30). Speaking for "free": Word of mouth in free- and paid-product settings. *Journal of Marketing Research*, *56*, 276-290. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022243718821957
- Borch, E. L., & Madsen, O. J. (2007). Dynamic capabilities facilitating innovative strategies in SMEs. *International Journal of Technoentrepreneurship*, *1*, 109-125. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJTE.2007.014731
- Bouranta, N., Tsampra, M., & Sklavos, G. (2019). Digital practices of Greek small entrepreneurship: Social media and self-employment. In N. Sykianakis, P.

- Polychronidou, & A. Karasavvoglou (Eds.), *Economic and financial challenges* for Eastern Europe (pp. 297-311). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-12169-3_19
- Brear, M. (2018, November 30). Process and outcome of a recursive, dialogic member checking approach: A project ethnography. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29, 944–957. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318812448
- Brem, A., Maier, M., & Wimschneider, C. (2016). Competitive advantage through innovation: The case of Nespresso. *European Journal of Innovation Management*, 19, 133-148. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJIM-05-2014-0055
- Broekemier, G., Chau, N., & Seshadri, S. (2015). Social media practices among small business-to-business enterprises. *Small Business Institute Journal*, 11, 37–48.

 Retrieved from https://www.sbij.org/index.php/SBIJ/article/viewFile/205/163
- Bryman, A. (2016). *Social research methods* (5th ed.). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Buhalis, D., & Mamalakis, E. (2015, February). Social media return on investment and performance evaluation in the hotel industry context. In I. Tussyadiah and A. Inversini (eds.) *Information and Communication Technologies in Tourism*. Switzerland: Springer.
- Burgess, S. (2016). Representing small business web presence content: The web presence pyramid model. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 25, 110–130. https://doi.org/10.1057/ejis.2015.4

- Burt, R. S. (1973). The differential impact of social integration on participation in the diffusion of innovations. *Social Science Research*, 2, 125-144. https://doi.org/10.1016/0049-089X(73)90015-X
- Calfee, J. E., & Ringold, D. J. (1988). Consumer skepticism and advertising regulation:

 What do the polls show? *Advances in Consumer Research*, *15*, 244–248.

 Retrieved from http://acrwebsite.org/volumes/6818/volumes/v15/NA-15
- Calfee, J. E., & Ringold, D. J. (1994). The 70% majority: Enduring consumer beliefs about advertising. *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing*, 13, 228–238. https://doi.org/10.1177/074391569401300204
- Cassell, C., & Bishop, V. (2019). Qualitative data analysis: Exploring themes, metaphors and stories. *European Management Review*, 16, 195–207.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/emre.12176
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *Qualitative Report*, 21, 811-831. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr
- Cawsey, T., & Rowley, J. (2016). Social media brand building strategies in B2B companies. *Marketing Intelligence & Planning*, 34, 754-776.
- Chakravarty, A., Kumar, A., & Grewal, R. (2014). Customer orientation structure for Internet-based business-to-business platform firms. *Journal of Marketing*, 78(5). https://doi.org/10.1509/jm.12.0442

- Chen, W. J., & Chen, M. L. (2014, May 1). Factors affecting the hotel's service quality:

 Relationship marketing and corporate image. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, 23, 77-96. https://doi.org/10.1080/19368623.2013.766581
- Chen, Z. (2017). Social acceptance and word of mouth: How the motive to belong leads to divergent WOM with strangers and friends. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 44, 613–632. https://doi.org/10.1093/jcr/ucx055
- Chongo, M., Chase, R. M., Lavoie, J. G., Harder, H. G., & Mignone, J. (2018). The life story board as a tool for qualitative research: Interviews with HIV-positive indigenous males. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917752440
- Chowdhury, I. A. (2015). Issue of quality in a qualitative research: An overview.

 *Innovative Issues and Approaches in Social Sciences, 8, 142–162.

 https://doi.org/10.12959/issn.1855-0541.iiass-2015-no1-art09
- Christensen, C. M. (2013). *The innovator's dilemma: When new technologies cause great firms to fail*. Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press.
- Christensen, C. M., McDonald, R., Altman, E. J., & Palmer, J. E. (2018). Disruptive innovation: An intellectual history and directions for future research. *Journal of Management Studies* 55(7). https://doi.org/10.1111/joms.12349
- Cirus, L., & Simonova, I. (2020). Rogers' diffusion of innovation theory applied on primary education: Case study of Czech teachers. 2020 International Symposium on Educational Technology (ISET), Educational Technology (ISET), 2020

- International Symposium on, ISET, 33–37. https://doi.org/10.1109/ISET49818.2020.00017
- Clausen, J., & Fichter, K. (2019, June). The diffusion of environmental product and service innovations: Driving and inhibiting factors. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, *31*, 64–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2019.01.003
- Colclough, S. N., Moen, Ø., Hovd, N. S., & Chan, A. (2019). SME innovation orientation: Evidence from Norwegian exporting SMEs. *International Small Business Journal: Researching Entrepreneurship*, *37*, 780-803. https://doi.org/10:1177/0266242619870731
- Cole, H. S., DeNardin, T., & Clow, K. E. (2017). Small service businesses: Advertising attitudes and the use of digital and social media marketing. *Services Marketing Quarterly*, 38, 203-212. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332969.2017.1394026
- Collins, J. D., & Reutzel, C. R. (2017). The role of top managers in determining investment in innovation: The case of small and medium-sized enterprises in India. *International Small Business Journal: Researching Entrepreneurship*, 35, 618-638. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242616658507
- Colorafi, K. J., & Evans, B. (2016). Qualitative descriptive methods in health science research. *Health Environments Research & Design Journal*, 9, 16-25. 121 https://doi.org/10.1177/1937586715614171
- Constantinides, E. (2014). Foundations of social media marketing. *Procedia: Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *148*, 40-57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.07.01

- Cooper, D., Peake, W., & Watson, W. (2016). Seizing opportunities: The moderating role of managerial characteristics on the relationship between opportunity-seeking and innovation efficacy in small business. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 54(4). https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12228
- Corti, L., & Fielding, N. (2016). Opportunities from the digital revolution: Implications for researching, publishing, and consuming qualitative research. *Sage Open, 6*, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244016678912
- Crandall, P. G., O'Bryan, C. A., Grinstead, D. A., Das, K., Rose, C., & Shabatura, J. J. (2016). Role of ethnographic research for assessing behavior of employees during cleaning and sanitation in food preparation areas. *Food Control*, *59*, 849-853. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2015.07.008
- Cruz-Ros, S., Garzón, D., & Mas-Tur, A. (2017). Entrepreneurial competencies and motivations to enhance marketing innovation in Europe. *Psychology & Marketing*, *34*, 1031-1038. https://doi.org/10.1002/mar.21042
- Cypress, B. S. (2017). Rigor or reliability and validity in qualitative research:

 Perspectives, strategies, reconceptualization, and recommendations. *Dimensions*of Critical Care Nursing, 36, 253-263.

 https://doi.org/10.1097/DCC.00000000000000053
- Dalmer, N. K. (2019). Considering the local and the translocal: Reframing health information practice research using institutional ethnography. *ASLIB Journal of Information Management*, 71, 703–719. https://doi.org/10.1108/AJIM-02-2019-0046

- Dante, M. C. (2015). Exploring the lived experiences of seniors aging in place (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University).
- Davidson, J., Thompson, S., & Harris, A. (2017). Qualitative data analysis software practices in complex research teams: Troubling the assumptions about transparency and portability. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 23, 779-788.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800417731082
- Dean, C. (2019). Social media marketing strategies used by owners of small retail businesses (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University).
- De Chesnay, M., & Abrums, M. E. (2015). Nursing research using ethnography:

 Qualitative designs and methods. New York, NY: Springer.
- De Mooy, M., & Yuen, S. (2017). Towards privacy-aware research and development in wearable health. *In Proceedings of the 50th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.24251/HICSS.2017.442
- Denzin, N. K. (2010). Moments, mixed methods, and paradigm dialogs. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 16, 419–427. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800410364608
- Denzin, N. K. (2012). Triangulation 2.0. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 6, 80–88. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689812437186
- Dessart, L. (2017). Social media engagement: A model of antecedents and relational outcomes. *Journal of Marketing Management*, *33*, 375-399. https://doi.org/10.1080/0267257X.2017.1302975

- Dessart, L., Veloutsou, C., & Morgan-Thomas, A. (2015). Consumer engagement in online brand communities: A social media perspective. *Journal of Product & Brand Management*, 24, 28-42. https://doi.org/10.1108/JPBM-06-2014-0635
- Diedricks, T., Myburgh, C., & Poggenpoel, M. (2018). Promoting mental health of students living with HIV using appreciative inquiry. *African Journal of AIDS**Research (AJAR), 17, 163–174. https://doi.org/10.2989/16085906.2018.1478312
- Dobrinić, D. (2020). Advertising value and attitude to catalogs and store flyer ads among Croatian consumers SEM approach. *Trziste / Market*, *32*, 129–146. https://doi.org/10.22598/mt/2020.32.2.129
- Dodds, S., & Hess, A. C. (2020). Adapting research methodology during COVID-19:

 Lessons for transformative service research. *Journal of Service Management*, 32

 (2). https://doi.org/10.1108/JOSM-05-2020-0153
- Douglas, J. L., & Earl, N. (1982). Developing a successful small business advertising program: An MBO approach. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 20, 11-20.
- Drummond, A. (2017). Feasibility and pilot studies: Why are they important? *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 80, 335-336. https://doi.org/10.1177/0308022617697743
- Dwivedi, A. (2015). A higher-order model of consumer Brand engagement and its impact on loyalty intentions. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 24, 100-109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2015.02.007

- Ecker, J. (2017). A reflexive inquiry on the effect of place on research interviews conducted with homeless and vulnerably housed individuals. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 18, 149-168. https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-18.1.2706
- Eid, R., & El-Gohary, H. (2013). The impact of E-marketing use on small business enterprises' marketing success. *The Service Industries Journal*, *33*, 31–50. https://doi.org/10.1080/02642069.2011.594878
- Eisnecker, P. S., & Kroh, M. (2017). The informed consent to record linkage in panel studies. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 81, 131-143.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/poq/nfw052
- EMarketer (2016, September). US digital ad spending, to surpass TV this year.

 EMarketer Podcast. Retrieved from https://www.emarketer.com/Article/US-Digital-Ad-Spending-Surpass-TV-this-Year/1014469
- Eriksson, P., & Kovalainen, A. (2016). *Qualitative methods in business research: A practical guide to social research* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Erkan, L., & Evans, C. (2016). The influence of eWOM in social media on consumers' purchase intentions: an extended approach to information adoption. *Computer in Human Behavior*, 61, 47-55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.03.003
- Expósito, A., & Sanchis-Llopis, J. A. (2018). Innovation and business performance for Spanish SMEs: New evidence from a multi-dimensional approach. *International Small Business Journal*, *36*(2). https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242618782596
- Ezeife, L. (2017). Social media strategies for increasing sales (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University).

- Fang, E., Xiaoling, L., Minue, H., & Palmatier, R. W. (2015). Direct and indirect effects of buyers and sellers on search advertising revenues in business-to-business electronic platforms. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 52, 407-422.
 https://doi.org/10.1509/jmr.13.0165
- Fang, Y. H. (2016). Beyond the usefulness of branded applications: Insights from consumer–brand engagement and self-construal perspectives. *Psychology and Marketing*, *34*, 40-58. https://doi.org/10.1002/mar.20972
- Farquhar, J., Michels, N., & Robson, J. (2020). Triangulation in industrial qualitative case study research: Widening the scope. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 87, 160-170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.02.001
- Felix, R., Rauschnabel, P. A., & Hinsch, C. (2017). Elements of strategic social media marketing: A holistic framework. *Journal of Business Research*, 70, 118-126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.05.001
- Fernandes, T., & Moreira, M. (2019). Consumer brand engagement, satisfaction and brand loyalty: A comparative study between functional and emotional brand relationships. *Journal of Product and Brand Management*, 28(2).

 https://doi.org/10.1108/JPBM-08-2017-1545
- Filieri, R., & McLeay, F. (2013). E-WOM and accommodation: An analysis of the factors that influence travelers' adoption of information from online reviews.

 Journal of Travel Research, 53, 44-57.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0047287513481274

- Financial News Media (2021). Why the importance of video massaging across all social media channels has increased in 2021. Cision PR Newswire. Retrieved from http://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/why-the-importance-of-video-messaging-across-all-social-media-channels-has-increased-in-2021-301260319.html
- Fink, M., Koller, M., Gartner, J., Floh, A., & Harms, R. (2018). Effective entrepreneurial marketing on Facebook: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Business Research*, *n/a*, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.10.005
- Fityan, A., & Huseynov, F. (2018). Factors affecting the adoption of social media as a marketing tool: A case study of Turkish small and medium-sized enterprises operating in textile manufacturing sector. *Yönetim, Ekonomi ve Pazarlama Araştırmaları Dergisi*, 2(4). https://doi.org/10.29226/TR1001.2018.43
- FitzPatrick, B. (2019). Validity in qualitative health education research. *Current in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 11, 211-217.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.11.014
- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, *10*, 19–32. https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02
- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research.

 *The Qualitative Report, 20, 1408-1416. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/

- Galati, A., Tinervia, S., Crescimanno, M., & Spezia, F. (2017). Changes in the international wine market competitiveness. *International Journal of Globalisation and Small Business*, 9, 277-293. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Antonino_Galati/publication/323099930
- Galindo-Martin, M., & Méndez-Picazo, M. (2014, May). Entrepreneurship, economic growth, and innovation: Are feedback effects at work? *Journal of Business Research*, 67, 825–829. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2013.11.052
- Gharajeh, M. S. (2018). Biological big data analytics. *Advances in Computers*, 109, 321–355. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.adcom.2017.08.002
- Gill, M., Sridhar, S., & Grewal, R. (2017, July 1). Return on engagement initiatives: A study of a business-to-business mobile app. *Journal of Marketing*, 81, 45–66. https://doi.org/10.1509/jm.16.0149
- Godey, B., Manthiou, A., Pederzoli, D., Rokka, J., Aiello, G., Donvito, R., & Singh, R. (2016). Social media marketing efforts of luxury brands: influence on brand equity and consumer behavior. *Journal of Business Research*, 69, 5833-5841. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.04.181
- Gonçalves, S., da Silva, R., & Teixeira, N. (2019). Individual actors and embeddedness in business-to-business interactions. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 76, 181-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2018.08.006
- Gong, T. (2018). Customer brand engagement behavior in online brand communities,

 Journal of Services Marketing, 32, 286-299. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSM-082016-0293

- Gould, D. J., & Nazarian, S. (2018). Social media return on investment: how much is it worth to my practice? *Aesthetic Surgery Journal*, 38(5). https://doi.org/10.1093/asj/sjx152
- Grady, C. (2015). Enduring and emerging challenges of informed consent. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 372, 855-862. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1411250
- Greenhalgh, T., Robert, G., Macfarlane, F., Bate, P., & Kyriakidou, O. (2004). Diffusions in service organizations: Systematic review and recommendations. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 82(4). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0887-378X.2004.00325.x
- Grewal, L., Stephen, A. T., & Coleman, N. V. (2019). When posting about products on social media backfires: The negative effects of consumer identity signaling on product interest. *Journal of Marketing Research*, *56*, 197–210.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0022243718821960
- Griffith, M. A. (2014). Consumer acquiescence to informed consent: The influence of vulnerability, motive, trust, and suspicion. *Journal of Customer Behavior*, *13*, 207-235. https://doi.org/10.1362/147539214X1403453768741
- Grundström, C., & Uddenberg, A. (2015). Growth ambitions vs. actual growth in established SMEs. In *XXVI ISPIM conference Shaping the frontiers of innovation management*, Budapest, 14–17 June. Manchester: The International Society for Professional Innovation Management (ISPIM).
- Guesalaga, R. (2016). The use of social media in sales: Individual and organizational antecedents, and the role of customer engagement in social media. *Industrial*

- Marketing Management, 54, 71-79.
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.12.002
- Gülmez, M., Sağtaş, S., & Kahyaoğlu, D. K. (2016). The effects of technoparks on absorptive capacity and the role of gatekeepers in this process. *Cag University Journal of Social Sciences*, 13(2). Retrieved from https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/download/article-file/696231
- Gümüs, N., & Kütahyali, D. N. (2017). Perceptions of social media by small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in Turkey. *International Journal of Business and Information*, 12, 123-148. https://doi.org/10.6702/ijbi.2017.12.2.2
- Hahn, I. S., Scherer, F. L., Basso, K., & dos Santos, M. B. (2016). Consumer trust in and emotional response to advertisements on social media and their influence on brand evaluation. *Brazilian Business Review*, 13(4).
 https://doi.org/10.15728/bbr.2016.13.4.3
- Haikel-Elsabeh, M., Zhao, Z., Ivens, B., & Brem, A. (2019). When is brand content shared on Facebook? A field study on online word-of-mouth. *International Journal of Market Research*, 61, 287-301.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1470785318805301
- Haleem, A., Kumar, S., & Luthra, S. (2018). Flexible system approach for understanding requisites of product innovation management. *Global Journal of Flexible Systems*Management, 19(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s40171-017-0171-7
- Hancock, D. R., & Algozzine, B. (2016). *Doing case study research: A practical guide* for beginning researchers. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.

- Harris, L., & Rae, A. (2009). Future of marketing for small business. *Journal of Business Strategy*, 30, 24-31. https://doi.org/10.1108/02756660910987581
- Hassan, S., Nadzim, S., & Shiratuddin, N. (2015). Strategic use of social media for small business based on the AIDA model. *Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *172*, 262-269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.3639
- Herman, W. (2015). Marketing communication model in social network Facebook. *Information Management and Business Review*, 7, 42-45. Retrieved from http://www.ifrnd.org/journal/index.php/imbr
- Hesse-Biber, S. (2015). Mixed methods research: The thing-ness problem. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 775-788. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315580558
- Hirschberg, I., Kahrass, H., & Strech, D. (2014). International requirements for consent in biobank research: qualitative review of research guidelines. *Journal of Medical Genetics*, 51(12). https://doi.org/10.1136/jmedgenet-2014-102692
- Hofacker, C. F., & Belanche, D. (2016). Eight social media challenges for marketing managers. *Spanish Journal of Marketing ESIC*, 20(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjme.2016.07.003
- Hollebeek, L. D., Glynn, M. S., & Brodie, R. J. (2014). Consumer brand engagement in social media: conceptualization, scale development and validation. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 28(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intmar.2013.12.002
- Hollebeek, L. D., Srivastava, R. K., & Chen, T. (2019). S-D logic-informed customer engagement: Integrative framework, revised fundamental propositions, and

- application to CRM. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 47(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-018-0605-6
- Holloway, I., & Galvin, K. (2016). *Qualitative research in nursing and healthcare*.

 Ames, IA: John Wiley.
- Houghton, C., Murphy, K., Shaw, D., & Casey, D. (2015). Qualitative case study data analysis: An example from practice. *Nurse Researcher*, 22, 8-12. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.22.5.8.e1307
- Hutchinson, K., Donnell, L. V., Gilmore, A., & Reid, A. (2015). Loyalty card adoption in SME retailers: The impact upon marketing management. *European Journal of Marketing*, 49, 467-490. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJM-06-2013-0321
- Icha, O., & Edwin, A. (2015). Effectiveness of social media networks as a strategic tool for organizational marketing management. *Journal Internet Bank Commerce*, 2(6). https://doi.org/10.4172/1204-5357.S2-006
- Idri, N. (2016). Sampling and choosing cases in qualitative research: A realistic approach. *Journal of Language Teaching & Learning*, 6(2).
- Ingham-Broomfield, B. (2016). A nurses' guide to the hierarchy of research designs and evidence. *Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *33*(3), 38-43. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2018.06.028
- Jackson, W., & Parasuraman, A. (1986). The yellow pages as an advertising tool for small businesses. *American Journal of Small Business*, 10, 29-35. https://doi.org/10.1177/104225878601000403

- Jiang, H., Lou, Y., & Kulemeka, O. (2017). Strategic social media use in public relations professionals' perceived social media impact, leadership behaviors, and work-life conflict. *International Journal of Strategic Communication*, 11(1), 18–41. https://doi.org/10.1080/1553118X.2016.1226842
- Joslin, R., & Muller, R. (2016). Identifying interesting project phenomena using philosophical and methodological triangulation. *International Journal of Project Management*, 34, 1043–1056. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2016.05.005
- Junge, M., Severgnini, B., & Sørensen, A. (2016). Product-marketing Innovation, Skills, and firm productivity growth. *Review of Income and Wealth*, 62, 724-757. https://doi.org/10.1111/roiw.12192
- Kachouie, R., & Sedighadeli, S. (2015). New product development success factors in prospector organisations: Mixed method approach. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 19(4). https://doi.org/10.1142/S1363919615500401
- Kajalo, S., & Lindblom, A. (2015). Market orientation, entrepreneurial orientation and business performance among small retailers. *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management*, 43, 580-596. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJRDM-04-2014-0044
- Kalu, F. A., & Bwalya, J. C. (2017). What makes qualitative research good research? An exploratory analysis of critical elements. *International Journal of Social Science Research*, 5, 43-58. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/319679032

- Kanuri, V. K., Chen, Y., & Sridhar, S. (2018). Scheduling content on social media:

 Theory, evidence, and application. *Journal of Marketing*, 82, 89-108.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0022242918805411
- Kaplan, A. M., & Haenlein, M. (2010). Users of the world, unite! The challenges and opportunities of social media. *Business Horizons*, *53*, 59-68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2009.09.003
- Karadag, H. (2015). Financial management challenges in small and medium-sized enterprises: A strategic management approach. *EMAJ: Emerging Markets Journal*, *5*, 26-40. https://doi.org/10.5195/EMAJ.2015.67
- Karimi, S., & Naghibi, H. S. (2015). Social media marketing (SMM) strategies for small to medium enterprises (SMEs). *International Journal of Information, Business and Management*, 7, 86-98. Retrieved from http://ijibm.elitehall.com
- Kern, F. G. (2016). The trials and tribulations of applied triangulation: Weighing different data sources. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 12, 166-181. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689816651032
- Khamitov, M., & Wang, X., & Thomson, M. (2019). How well do consumer-brand relationships drive customer brand loyalty? Generalizations from a meta-analysis of brand relationship elasticities. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 46, 435–459. https://doi.org/10.1093/jcr/ucz006
- Kihyun, K., & Kumar, V. (2018). The relative influence of economic and relational direct marketing communications on buying behavior in B2B markets. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 55, 48-68. https://doi.org/10.1509/jmr.16.0283

- Kilgour, M., Sasser, S. L., & Roy, L. (2015). The social media transformation process:

 Curating content into strategy. *Corporate Communications: An International Journal*, 20, 326 343. https://doi.org/10.1108/CCIJ-07-2014-0046
- Kinnunen, J. (1996). Gabriel Tarde as a founding father of innovation diffusion research.

 *Acta sociological, 39, 431-442. https://doi.org/10.1177/000169939603900404
- Kobe, K., & Schwinn, R. (2018). Small business GDP, 1998-2014. US. *Small Business Administration, Office of Advocacy*. Retrieved from https://cdn.advocacy.sba.gov/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/21060437/Small-Business-GDP-1998-2014.pdf
- Kornbluh, M. (2015). Combatting challenges to establishing trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *12*, 397-414. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2015.1021941
- Kotler, P. (2017). Some of my adventures in marketing. *Journal of Historical Research* in Marketing, 9, 203-208. https://doi.org/10.1108/JHRM-11-2016-0027
- Koumpouros, Y., Toulias, T. L., & Koumpouros, N. (2015). The importance of patient engagement and the use of social media marketing in healthcare. *Technology and Health Care*, 23, 495-507. https://doi.org/10.3233/THC-150918
- Kraus, S., Gast, J., Schleich, M., Jones, P., & Ritter, M. (2019). Content is king: How SMEs create content for social media marketing under limited resources. *Journal of Macromarketing*, 39, 415-430. https://doi.org/10.1177/0276146719882746
- Kujur, F., & Singh, S. (2020). Visual communication and consumer-brand relationship on social networking sites: Uses gratifications theory perspective. *Journal of*

- *Theoretical & Applied Electronic Commerce Research, 15*, 20-47. https://doi.org/10.4067/S0718-18762020000100104
- Kumar, A., Bezawada, R., Rishika, R., Janakiraman, R., & Kannan, P. K. (2016). From social to sale: The effects of firm-generated content in social media on customer behavior. *Journal of marketing*, 80, 7-25. https://doi.org/10.1509/jm.14.0249
- Kumar, V., & Pansari, A. (2016). Competitive advantage through engagement. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 53(4). https://doi.org/10.1509/jmr.15.0044
- Kwon, W.-S., Woo, H., Sadachar, A., & Huang, X. (2021). External pressure or internal culture? An innovation diffusion theory account of small retail businesses' social media use. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 62.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2021.102616
- Lamberton, C., & Stephen, A. T. (2016, November). A thematic exploration of digital, social media, and mobile marketing: Research evolution from 2000 to 2015 and an agenda for future inquiry. *Journal of Marketing*, 80, 146–172.

 https://doi.org/10.1509/jm.15.0415
- Lambrecht, A., & Misra, K. (2017). Fee or free: When should firms charge for online content? *Management Science*, 63, 1150–1165.

 https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.2015.2383
- Lancaster, G. A. (2015). Pilot and feasibility studies come of age! *Pilot and Feasibility Studies*, *I*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/2055-5784-1-1

- Larivière, B., & Kandampully, J. (2019). Moving forward and making an impact in service research: from research priorities to research methodologies. *Journal of Service Management*, 30, 521-523. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOSM-10-2019-414
- Lau, E. K. W. (2015). Understanding a company's social media strategies and customer engagement. In L. Uden, M. Heričko, & I. H. Ting (eds), *Knowledge Management* in Organizations. Lecture Notes in Business Information Processing, 224, 438-450. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-21009-4_34
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2016). *Practical research: Planning and design* (11th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Lemon, L. L., & Hayes, J. (2020). Enhancing trustworthiness of qualitative findings:

 Using leximancer for qualitative data analysis triangulation. Qualitative Report,

 25(3), 604-614.

https://nsuworks.nova.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=4222&context=tqr

- Lepkowska-White, E., Parsons, A., & Berg, W. (2019). Social media marketing management: An application to small restaurants in the US. *International Journal of Culture, Tourism, and Hospitality Research*, *13*, 321-345.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCTHR-06-2019-0103
- Levitt, H. M., Motulsky, S. L., Wertz, F. J., Morrow, S. L., & Ponterotto, J. G. (2017).

 Recommendations for designing and reviewing qualitative research in psychology: Promoting methodological integrity. *Qualitative Psychology*, 4, 2–22. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000082

- Levy, S., & Gvili, Y. (2015). How credible is w-word of mouth across digital-marketing channels? The roles of social capital, information richness, and Interactivity.

 **Journal of Advertising Research*, 55, 95-109. https://doi.org/10.2501/JAR-55-1-095-109
- Lewis, S. C., & Molyneux, L. (2018). A decade of research on social media and journalism: Assumptions, blind spots, and a way forward. Media and Communication, 6(4), 11–23. http://dx.doi.org/10.17645/mac.v6i4.1562
- Li, F., Larimo, J., & Leonidou, L. C. (2021). Social media marketing strategy: definition, conceptualization, taxonomy, validation, and future agenda. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 49, 51–70. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1007/s11747-020-00733-3
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Lou, L., & Koh, J. (2017). Antecedents and outcomes of brand relationship quality in brand communities: A cross-validation test of two social media samples. *PACIS*2017 Proceedings, 92. Retrieved from https://aisel.aisnet.org/pacis2017/92
- Love, J. H., & Roper, S. (2015). SME innovation, exporting and growth: A review of existing evidence. *International Small Business Journal: Researching*Entrepreneurship, 33, 28-48. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242614550190
- Lupo, C., & Stroman, J. R. (2020). Social media marketing adoption strategies: An exploratory multiple case study of landscape industry small businesses. *Journal of Social, Behavioral, and Health Sciences, 14*, 211–220.

 https://doi.org/10.5590/JSBHS.2020.14.1.15

- MacPhail, C., Khoza, N., Abler, L., & Ranganathan, M. (2016). Process guidelines for establishing intercoder reliability in qualitative studies. Qualitative Research, 16, 198–212. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794115577012
- Maher, C., Hadfield, M., Hutchings, M., & Eyto, A. (2018). Ensuring rigor in qualitative data analysis: A design research approach to coding combining NVivo with tradition material methods. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918786362
- Mahony, T., Myers, T., Low, D., & Eagle, L. (2018). If we post it they will come: A small business perspective of social media marketing. ACM International Conference Proceeding Series, January 2018, 1-10.
 https://doi.org/10.1145/3167918.3167928
- Marshall, C., Kitchenham, B., & Brereton, P. (2018). Tool features to support systematic reviews in software engineering A cross domain study. *E-Informatica Software Engineering Journal*, 12, 79–115. https://doi.org/10.5277/e-Inf180104
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Masud, M. (2018). An examination of case studies in management research: a paradigmatic bridge. *International Journal of Social Science Studies*, 6(3). https://doi.org/10.11114/ijsss.v6i3.2971
- Matta, C. (2019). Qualitative research methods and evidential reasoning. *Philosophy of the Social Sciences*, 49, 385–412. https://doi.org/10.1177/0048393119862858

- Men, L. R., & Tsai, W. S. (2015, September). Infusing social media with humanity:

 Corporate character, public engagement, and relational outcomes. *Public Relations Review*, 41, 395-403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2015.02.005
- Min-Sook, P., Jong-Kuk, S., & Yong, J. (2019). Attachment styles and electronic word of mouth (e-WOM) adoption on social networking sites. *Journal of Business Research*, 99, 398-404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.09.020
- Mishra, A. S. (2019). Antecedents of consumers' engagement with brand-related content on social media. *Marketing Intelligence & Planning*, *37*, 386-400. https://doi.org/10.1108/MIP-04-2018-0130
- Mohajan, H. K. (2017). Two criteria for good measurements in research: Validity and reliability. *Annals of Spiru Haret University*, *17*, 56–82. https://doi.org/10.26458/1746
- Moncey, A. A., & Baskaran, K. (2020). Digital marketing analytics: Building brand awareness and loyalty in UAE. 2020 IEEE International Conference on Technology Management, Operations and Decisions (ICTMOD), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICTMOD49425.2020.9380579
- Moore, S., & Simon, J. l. (1999). The greatest century that ever was: 25 miraculous 195 trends of the past 100 years. *Cato Institute*. Retrieved from https://www.cato.org/publications/policy-analysis/greatest-century-ever-was-25-miraculous-trends-past-100-years
- Moreno-Munoz, A., Bellido-Outeirino, F. J., Siano, P., & Gomez-Nieto, M. A. (2016).

 Mobile social media for smart grids customer engagement: Emerging trends and

- challenges. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *53*, 1611-1616. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.09.077
- Morgan, S. J., Pullon, S. R. H., Macdonald, L. M., McKinlay, E. M., & Gray, B. V.
 (2017). Case study observational research: A framework for conducting case study research where observation data are the focus. *Qualitative Health Research*,
 27, 1060-1068. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316649160
- Muhammad, A., & Chin-Hong, P. (2017). Acceptance of Islamic banking as innovation:

 A case of Pakistan. *Humanomics*, *33*, 499–516. https://doi.org/10.1108/H-11-2016-0085
- Muñoz-Expósito, M., Oviedo-García, M. Á., & Castellanos-Verdugo, M. (2017). How to https://doi.org/10.1108/IntR-06-2016-0170
- Musa, H., Rahim, N., Azmi, F. A., Shibghatullah, A. S., & Othmana, N. A. (2016). Social media marketing and online small and medium enterprises performance:
 Perspective of Malaysian small and medium enterprises. *International Review of Management and Marketing*. Retrieved from
 https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/pub/irmm/issue/32101/355610
- Natow, R. S. (2020). The use of triangulation in qualitative studies employing elite interviews. Qualitative Research, 20(2), 160–173. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794119830077
- Nawafleh, S. A. (2015). The effect of information technology on the bank profitability empirical study of Jordanian banks. *Canadian Center of Science and Education*, 10, 170-175. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v10n2p170

- Neale, J., Miller, P., & West, R. (2014). Reporting quantitative information in qualitative research: guidance for authors and reviewers. *Society for the Study of Addiction*, 109, 175–176. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.12408
- Nevin, F., & Torres, A. M. (2012). Club 2.0: investigating the social media marketing strategies of nightclubs in the midlands and west of Ireland. *Irish Journal of Management*, 32, 77-93.
- Niazi, A. (2017). The role of entrepreneurship, innovation and marketing capability in small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs). *Journal of Economic & Management Perspectives, 11*, 1748-1759.
- Nistor, G. C. (2019). An extended technology acceptance model for marketing strategies in social media. *Review of Economic and Business Studies*, *12*, 127-136. https://doi.org/10.1515/rebs-2019-0086
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 18, 34-35. https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- O'Dwyer, M., Gilmore, A., & Carson, D. (2009). Innovative marketing in SMEs.

 European Journal of Marketing, 43, 46-61.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/03090560910923238
- Oetzel, J. G., Villegas, M., Zenone, H., Hat, E. R. W., Wallerstein, N., & Duran, B. (2015). Enhancing stewardship of community-engaged research through governance. *American Journal of Public Health*, 105, 1161-1167. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2014.302457

- Omoyza, I., & Agwu, E. (2016, January). Effectiveness of social media networks as a strategic tool for organizational marketing management. *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce*, 21(S2). https://doi.org/10.4172/1204-5357.s2-006
- Onwugbuzie, A. J., & Byers, V. T. (2014). An exemplar for combining the collection, analysis, and interpretations of verbal and nonverbal data in qualitative research.

 International Journal of Education, 6, 183-246.

 https://doi.org/10.5296/ije.v6il.4399
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (2015). Frascati

 Manual 2015: Guidelines for Collecting and Reporting Data on Research and

 Experimental Development. The Measurement of Scientific, Technological and

 Innovation Activities. OECD Publishing, Paris.

 https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264239012-en
- Öztürk, M., & Batum, T. P. (2019). How housing brands use social media in their marketing communications?: A content analysis. *Journal of Administrative Sciences / Yonetim Bilimleri Dergisi*, 17, 111–135.

 https://doi.org/10.35408/comuybd.449009
- Papadopoulos, T., Gunasekaran, A., Dubey, R., Altay, N., Childe, S. J., & Fosso-Wamba, S. (2016). The role of big data in explaining disaster resilience in supply chains for sustainability. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *142*, 1108-1118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.03.059

- Parsons, A. L., & Lepkowska-White, E. (2018). Social media marketing management: A conceptual framework. *Journal of Internet Commerce*, *17*, 81-95. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332861.2018.1433910
- Pauwels, K., Aksehirli, Z., & Lackman, A. (2016). Like the ad or the brand? Marketing stimulates different electronic word-of-mouth content to drive online and offline performance. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 33, 639–655.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijresmar.2016.01.005
- Perčić, K., & Perić, N. (2021). The effectiveness of direct marketing media regarding attitudes of different target groups of consumers in Serbia. *Periodica Polytechnica: Social & Management Sciences*, 29, 21–32. https://doi.org/10.3311/PPso.13616
- Perčić, K., Perić, N., & Kutlača, D. (2019). The adoption of internet media as marketing innovations in Serbia. *Journal of Sustainable Business and Management Solutions in Emerging Economies*, 24(2). https://doi.org/10.7595/management.fon.2018.0032
- Pollák, F., & Dorčák, P. (2016). The effective use of Facebook by small and medium-sized enterprises operating in Slovakia. *Trziste/Market*, 28, 79–91. Retrieved from https://hrcak.srce.hr/160393
- Powell, K., Wilson, V. J., Redmond, N. M., Gaunt, D. M., & Ridd, M. J. (2016).

 Exceeding the recruitment target in a primary care paediatric trial: An evaluation of the Choice of Moisturiser for Eczema Treatment (COMET) feasibility

- randomised controlled trial. *Trials*, *17*, 550. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-016-1659-8
- Prajogo, D. I. (2016). The strategic fit between innovation strategies and business environment in delivering business performance. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 171, 241–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2015.07.037
- Puig, V. I., Erwin, J. E., & Evenson, T. L. (2015). It's a two-way street: Examining how trust, diversity, and contradiction influence a sense of community. *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, 29, 187-201. https://doi.org/10.1080/02568543.2015.1009588
- Rad, H. S., Ghorabi, M., Rafiee, M., & Rad, V. S. (2015). Electronic customer relationship management: Opportunities and challenges of digital world.
 International Journal of Management, Accounting & Economics, 2, 609-619.
 https://doi.org/10.2307/1251854
- Raynard, M. (2017). Understanding academic E-books through the diffusion of innovations theory as a basis for developing effective marketing and educational strategies. *The Journal of Academic Librarianship*, 43(1), 82–86.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acalib.2016.08.011
- Razak, S. A., & Latip, N. A. (2016). Factors that influence the usage of social media in marketing. *Journal of Research in Business and Management*, 4, 01-07. Retrieved from http://www.questjournals.org/jrbm/papers/vol4-issue2/A420107.pdf

- Reilly, A. H., & Hynan, K. A. (2014). Corporate communication, sustainability, and social media: It's not easy (really) being green. *Business Horizons*, *57*, 747-758. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2014.07.008
- Rendle-Short, J. (2019). Analysing atypical interaction: Reflections on the intersection between quantitative and qualitative research. *Journal of Pragmatics*, *143*, 267–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pragma.2018.04.009
- Roberts, D. L., & Piller, F. T. (2016). Finding the right role for social media in innovation. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, *57*, 41-47. Retrieved from http://ilp.mit.edu/media/news_articles/smr/2016/57303.pdf
- Roberts, K., Dowell, A. C., & Nie, J. (2019). Attempting rigour and replicability in thematic analysis of qualitative research data: A case study of codebook development. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *19*(66).

 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0707-y
- Robins, C. S., & Eisen, K. (2017). Strategies for the effective use of NVivo in a largescale study: Qualitative analysis and the repeal of don't ask, don't tell.

 *Qualitative Inquiry, 23, 768-778. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800417731089
- Roch, J., & Mosconi, E. (2016). The use of social media tools in the product life cycle phases: A systematic literature review. *49th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, *49*, 1830-1838. https://doi.org/10.1109/HICSS.2016.232
- Rogers, E. M. (2003). *Diffusion of innovations* (5th ed.). New York, NY: The Free Press.

- Rogers, E. M. (2015). Evolution: Diffusion of innovations. *International Encyclopedia of the Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 378-381. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-08-0970868.81064-8
- Rogers, E. M., & Kincaid, D. (1981). *Communication networks: Toward a new paradigm* for research. New York, NY: Free Press.
- Rowlands, T., Waddell, N., & Mckenna, B. (2015). Are we there yet? A technique to determine theoretical saturation. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 56, 40-47. https://doi.org/10.1080/08874417.2015.11645799
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Rutberg, S., & Bouikidis, C. D. (2018). Focusing on the fundamentals: A simplistic differentiation between qualitative and quantitative research. *Nephrology Nursing Journal*, 45, 209-212.
- Ryan, B., & Gross, N. C. (1943). The diffusion of hybrid seed corn in two Iowa communities. *Rural Sociology*, 8(1). Retrieved from http://www.ruralsociology.org/rural-sociology-journal
- Sahut, J., & Peris-Ortiz, M. (2013). Small business, innovation, and entrepreneurship.

 Small Business Economics, 42(4). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-013-9521-9
- Sajid, S. (2016). Social media and its role in marketing. *Business and Economics Journal*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.4172/2151-6219.1000203
- Sashi, C. M., Brynildsen, G., & Bilghian, A. (2019). Social media, customer engagement and advocacy: An empirical investigation using twitter data for quick service

- restaurants. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management,* 31(3). https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-02-2018-0108
- Saunders, M. N. K., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2018). *Research methods for business students* (7th ed.). Essex, England: Pearson.
- SBA (2016). United States small business profile. *U.S. Small Business Administration*Office of Advocacy. Retrieved from

 https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/advocacy/United_States.pdf
- SBA (2020). Frequently asked questions about small business. *U.S. Small Business***Administration Office of Advocacy. Retrieved from

 https://cdn.advocacy.sba.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/05122043/Small-Business-FAQ-2020.pdf
- SBA (2018a). United States 2018 small business profile. *U.S. Small Business***Administration Office of Advocacy. Retrieved from

 https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/advocacy/2018-Small-Business-Profiles-US.pdf
- SBA (2018b). Maryland 2018 small business profile. *U.S. Small Business Administration*Office of Advocacy. Retrieved from

 https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/advocacy/2018-Small-Business-Profiles-MD.pdf
- Schaupp, L. C., & Bélanger, F. (2014). The value of social media for small businesses. *Journal of Information Systems*, 28, 187-207. https://doi.org/10.2308/isys-50674

- Scheibe, M., Reichelt, J., Bellmann, M., & Kirch, W. (2015). Acceptance factors of mobile apps for diabetes by patients aged 50 or older: A qualitative study.

 Medicine 2.0 Congress, PMIR Publications, 4, 1-13.

 https://doi.org/10.2196/med20.3912
- Schrag, R. J. V. (2017). Campus based sexual assault and dating violence: A review of study contexts and participants. *Journal of Women and Social Work, 32*, 67-80. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886109916644644
- Schram, T. H. (2006). *Conceptualizing and proposing qualitative research* (2nd ed.). Lewiston, NY: Pearson.
- Semuel, H., Siagian, H., & Octavia, S. (2017). The effect of leadership and innovation on differentiation strategy and company performance. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 237, 1152–1159.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2017.02.171
- Shelomi, M. (2015). Why we still don't eat insects: Assessing entomophagy promotion through a diffusion of innovations framework. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 45, 311-318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2015.06.008
- Shibia, A. G., & Barako, G. D. (2017). Determinants of micro and small enterprises growth in Kenya. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 24, 105-118. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSBED-07-2016-0118
- Shoenberger, H., Eunjin, A. K., & Johnson, E. K. (2020). #Beingreal about Instagram ad models: The effects of perceived authenticity: How image modification of female

- body size alters advertising attitude and buying intention. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 60, 197–207. https://doi.org/10.2501/JAR-2019-035
- Shrestha, L. S., Alsadoon, A., Prasad, P. W. C., Venkata, H. S., & Elchouemi, A. (2019).
 Rise of Social Media Marketing: A Perspective on Health Insurance. 2019 5th
 International Conference on Advanced Computing & Communication Systems
 (ICACCS), 905–909. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICACCS.2019.8728510
- Siamagka, N. T., Christodoulides, G., Michaelidou, N., & Valvi, A. (2015). Determinants of social media adoption by B2B organizations. *Industrial Marketing*Management, 51, 89-99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.05.005
- Singh, R. K., Garg, S. K., & Deshmukh, S. G. (2010). Strategy development by small scale industries in India. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 110, 1073-1093. https://doi.org/10.1108/02635571011069112
- Singh, S., & Srivastava, S. (2019). Engaging consumers in multichannel online retail environment: a moderation study of platform type on interaction. *Journal of Modelling in Management*, 14(1). https://doi.org/10.1108/JM2-09-2017-0098
- Smith, R. A., Kim, Y., Zhu, X., Doudou, D. T., Sternberg, E. D., & Thomas, M. B. (2018). Integrating models of diffusion and behavior to predict innovation adoption, maintenance, and social diffusion. Journal of Health Communication, 23(3), 264–271. https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2018.1434259
- Spiers, J., Morse, J. M., Olson, K., Mayan, M., & Barrett, M. (2018).

 Reflection/commentary on a past article: Verification strategies for establishing

- reliability and validity in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17, 1-2. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918788237
- Spillane, A., Larkin, C., Corcoran, P., Matvienko-Sikar, K., & Arensman, E. (2017).

 What are the physical and psychological health effects of suicide bereavement on family members? Protocol for an observational and interview mixed-methods study in Ireland. *BMJ Open, 71*, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-014707
- Spradley, J. P. (1976). The ethnographic interview. New York: Waveland Press
- Sriram, V. (2016, May 3). Social Media and Library Marketing: Experiences of KN Raj Library. *DESIDOC Journal of Library & Information Technology (DJLIT)*, 36, 153-157. https://doi.org/10.14429/djlit.36.3.9810
- Starcher, R., Dzubinski, L. M., & Sanchez, J. N. (2018). Rigorous missiological research using qualitative inquiry. Missiology. *An International Review*, *46*, 50-66. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091829617741911
- Stephen, A. T., & Lamberton, C. (2016). A thematic exploration of digital, social media, and mobile marketing research's evolution from 2000 to 2015 and an agenda for future research. *Journal of Marketing*, 80, 146–172.

 https://doi.org/10.1509/jm.15.0415
- Story, V. M., Boso, N., & Cadogan, J. W. (2015). The form of relationship between firm-level product innovativeness and new product performance in developed and emerging markets. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 32(1).

 https://doi.org/10.1111/jpim.12180

- Sujatha, R., & Sekkizhar, J. (2019). Determinants of m-commerce adoption in India using technology acceptance model infused with innovation diffusion theory. *Journal of Management Research* (09725814), 19, 193–204.
- Sylvan, K. (2018). Knowledge as a non-normative relation. Philosophy and

 Phenomenological Research, 97, 190–222. https://doi.org/10.1111/phpr.12371
- Taalbi, J. (2017). What drives innovation? Evidence from economic history. *Research Policy*, 46, 1437-1453. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2017.06.007
- Taalbi, J. (2019). Origins and pathways of innovation in the third industrial revolution. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, 28, 1125-1148.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/icc/dty053
- Taiminen, H., & Karjaluoto, H. (2015). The usage of digital marketing channels in SMEs. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 22, 633-651.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/JSBED-05-2013-0073
- Tran, V.-T., Porcher, R., Tran, V.-C., & Ravaud, P. (2017). Predicting data saturation in qualitative surveys with mathematical models from ecological research. *Journal Of Clinical Epidemiology*, 82, 71–78.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.10.001
- Tuapawa, K. (2017). Interpreting experiences of students using educational online technologies to interact with teachers in blended tertiary environments: A phenomenological study. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, *33*, 163-175. https://doi.org/10.14742/ajet.2964

- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2021). Productivity and costs, first quarter 2021, revised. *Economic News Release*. Retrieved from U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2021).
 Productivity and costs, first quarter 2021, revised. *Economic News Release*.
 Retrieved from https://www.bls.gov/news.release/prod2.nr0.htm
- Vaismoradi, M., Jones, J., Turunen, H., & Snelgrove, S. (2016). Theme development in qualitative content analysis and thematic analysis. *Journal of Nursing Education* and *Practice*, 6, 100-108. https://doi.org/10.5430/jnep.v6n5p100
- Valente, T., & Rogers, E. (1995). The origins and development of the diffusions of innovations paradigm as an example of scientific growth. *Science Communication*, 16, 242-273. https://doi.org/10.1177/1075547095016003002
- Valerio, M. A., Rodriguez, N., Winkler, P., Lopez, J., Dennison, M., Yuanyuan, L., & Turner, B. J. (2016). Comparing two sampling methods to engage hard-to-reach communities in research priority setting. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 16, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-016-0242-z
- Valos, M. J., Maplestone, V. L., Polonsky, M. J., & Ewing, M. (2017). Integrating social media within an integrated marketing communication decision-making framework. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 33, 1522-1558.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/0267257X.2017.1410211
- Van Dijk, J., Vervoort, S., Van Wijk, A., Kalkman, C., & Schuurmans, M. (2016).
 Postoperative patients' perspectives on rating pain: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Nursing*, 53, 260-269.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2015.08.007

- Van Rijnsoever, F. J. (2017). (I can't get no) saturation: A simulation and guidelines for sample sizes in qualitative research. PLoS ONE, 12(7), 1–17.

 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0181689
- Vass, C., Rigby, D., & Payne, K. (2017). The role of qualitative research methods in discrete choice experiments: A systematic review and survey of authors. *Medical Decision Making*, 37, 298-313. https://doi.org/10.1177/0272989X16683934
- Verhoef, P. C., Kannan, P. K., & <u>Inman</u>, J. (2015). From multi-channel retailing to omnichannel retailing: Introduction to the special issue on multi-channel retailing.

 **Journal of Retailing, 19, 174-181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretai.2015.02.005
- Voigt, K., & Ernst, M. (2010). Use of Web 2.0 applications in product development: An empirical study of the potential for knowledge creation and exchange in research and development. *International Journal of Engineering, Science and Technology*, 2, 54-68. Retrieved from https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ijest/article/view/63859/51674
- Wall Emerson, R. (2021). Convenience sampling revisited: Embracing its limitations through thoughtful study design. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 115, 76–77. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145482X20987707
- Weil, S. (2017). The advantages of qualitative research into femicide. *Qualitative Sociology Review*, 13(3), 118–125.
- Whicher, D. M., Miller, J. E., Dunham, J. K., & Joffe, S. (2015). Gatekeepers for pragmatic clinical trials. *Clinical Trial*, 12, 442-448. https://doi.org/10.1177/1740774515597699

- Wilk, V., Soutar, G. N., & Harrigan, P. (2019). Tackling social media data analysis:

 Comparing and contrasting QSR NVivo and Leximancer. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, 22, 94–113. https://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-01-2017-0021
- Wills, J. R., & Ryans, J. K., Jr. (1982). Attitudes toward advertising: A multinational study. *Journal of International Business Studies*, *13*, 121–129. https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.jibs.8490563
- Wirtz, B. W., Göttel, V., & Daiser, P. (2017). Social networks: Usage intensity and effect on personalized advertising. *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, 18, 103-123. https://http://www.jecr.org/
- Woods, M., Paulus, T., Atkins, D. P., & Macklin, R. (2016). Advancing qualitative research using qualitative data analysis software (QDAS)? Reviewing potential versus practice in published studies using ATLAS.ti and NVivo, 1994-2013.

 Social Science Computer Review, 34, 597–617.

 https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0894439315596311
- Woschke, T., Haase, H., & Kratzer, J. (2017). Resource scarcity in SMEs: Effects on incremental and radical innovations. *Management Research Review*, 40, 195-217. https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-10-2015-0239
- Yadav, M. S., De Valck, K., Hennig-Thurau, T., Hoffman, D. L., & Spann, M. (2013).
 Social commerce: A contingency framework for assessing marketing potential.
 Journal of Interactive Marketing, 27, 311–323.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intmar.2013.09.001

- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research: Design and methods* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Youngs, A., & Graf, A. S. (2017). Innovating the innovation: Applying mobile research methods to experience sampling. *Journal of Social, Behavioral, and Health Sciences*, 11, 115-132. https://doi.org/10.5590/JSBHS.2017.11.1.08
- Zahy, R. (2017). Examining the dilution of the consumer-brand relationship on Facebook: The saturation issue. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, 20, 335–353. https://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-07-2016-0064
- Zaitseva, E. A., Srednyak, K. V., & Kudryavtseva, M. E. (2019). SMM-tools in the promotion of small and medium- sized business (in the case of Nizhny Novgorod market). 2019 Communication Strategies in Digital Society Workshop (ComSDS), 219, 93–95. https://doi.org/10.1109/COMSDS.2019.8709644
- Zanello, G., Fu, X., Mohnen, P., & Ventresca, M. (2016). The creation and diffusion of innovation in developing countries: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, 30, 884–912. https://doi.org/10.1111/joes.12126
- Zhang, J., An, X., & Li, P. (2020). Research on a mix design method of self-compacting concrete based on a paste rheological threshold theory and a powder equivalence model. *Construction and Building Materials*, 233, 1-12.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2019.117292
- Zhang, X., Kuchinke, L., Woud, M. L., Velten, J., & Margraf, J. (2017). Survey method matters: Online/offline questionnaires and face-to-face or telephone interviews

differ. Computer in Human Behavior, 71, 172-180.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.02.006

Zhang, Y., & Wildemuth, B. M. (2016). Qualitative analysis of content. Applications of

Social Research Methods, 32, 1-12. Retrieved from

http://oldclasses.design4complexity.com/

Appendix A: Interview Questions

- 1. How does your organization use social media as a communication channel to engage customers?
- 2. What effective SMM strategies have your organization developed and implemented to engage customers?
- 3. How does your organization develop its SMM strategies?
- 4. How did your organization implement SMM strategies to engage customers?
- 5. What, if any, adjustments over time have your organization made to its SMM strategies that have improved consumers' engagement?
- 6. How does the management of your organization determine benchmarks of the effectiveness of a specific SMM strategy after its development and implementation?
- 7. Based on your experiences, what positive effects have the implementation of SMM strategies had on your organization over time?
- 8. What else would you like to share regarding your experiences in developing and using SMM implementation strategy to engage consumers?

Appendix B: Interview Protocol

Participants Identification:

Participant No. Identifier:
Age
Gender
Occupation
Religion
Years of experience working with SMM strategies

The central research question: The central research question is "What strategies do small business managers use to develop and effectively implement SMM to improve consumers engagement?" The interview will contain 8 open-ended questions to obtain an in-depth information from experienced small business managers in Maryland.

Explanation of the research study: The researcher will go over the purpose of the study, obtain consent from the participant, and provide a consent form to each participant.

Selecting of interview time and location: Interviews was conducted at an agreed upon time and location between the participant and researcher.

Recording the interview and note-taking: The interviews was recorded and notes-taken during each interview. A day after the interview, a thank-you card was mailed to each participant.

Transcription of interview: The researcher will transcribe the recorded interview of each participant and send the transcribes to participants via email.

Member checking: The participants will receive and review the copy of the researcher transcription and interpretation of their interview. The participants will send their confirmation of accuracy of the transcription or updated copy in case of any to clarification to researcher by e-mail or telephone to confirm accuracy of the transcription.

Follow-up questions: The researcher will arrange a 30 minutes session with each participant to ask any follow-up questions to determinant the quality of the responses.